Europaudvalget 2002-03 EUU Alm.del Bilag 82 Offentligt

Modtaget via elektronisk post. Der tages forbehold for evt. fejl

Europaudvalget (Alm. del - bilag 82) Det Europæiske Råd (Offentligt)

og deres stedfortrædere

Bilag Journalnummer Kontor

1 400.C.2-0 EU-sekr. 11. oktober 2002

Til underretning for Folketingets Europaudvalg vedlægges i forbindelse med Det Europæiske Råd i Bruxelles den 24.-25. oktober 2002 Kommissionens fremskridtsrapport for Tjekkiet, KOM(2002) 700 endelig.

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

×

Brussels, 9.10.2002

2002

# **REGULAR REPORT**

ON

# **CZECH REPUBLIC'S**

## PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

{COM(2002) 700 final}

# 2002

# **REGULAR REPORT**

**ON** 

the Czech Republic's

# PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

# Table of contents

The judicial system \*

# A. Introduction \* a) Preface \* b) Relations between the European Union and the Czech Republic \* Recent developments under the Europe Agreement including bilateral trade \* Action Plan for reinforcing administrative and judicial capacity \* National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis \* Community assistance \* Twinning \* Negotiations \* B. Criteria for membership \* 1. Political criteria \* Introduction \* Recent developments \* 1.1. Democracy and the rule of law \* The Parliament \* The executive \*

```
Anti-corruption measures *
1.2. Human rights and the protection of minorities *
Civil and political rights *
Economic, social and cultural rights *
Minority rights and the protection of minorities *
1.3. General evaluation *
2. Economic criteria *
2.1. Introduction *
2.2. Economic developments *
2.3. Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria *
The existence of a functioning market economy *
The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union *
2.4. General evaluation *
3. Ability to assume the obligations of membership *
Introduction *
3.1. The chapters of the acquis *
           Chapter 1: Free movement of goods *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 2: Free movement of persons *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 3: Freedom to provide services *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 4: Free movement of capital *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 5: Company law *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 6: Competition policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 7: Agriculture *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 8: Fisheries *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 9: Transport policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
```

```
Conclusion *
           Chapter 10: Taxation *
Progress since last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 11: Economic and Monetary Union *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 12: Statistics *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 13: Social policy and employment *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 14: Energy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 15: Industrial policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 16: Small and medium-sized enterprises *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 17: Science and research *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 18: Education and training *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 19: Telecommunications and information technologies *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 20: Culture and audio-visual policy *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
           Chapter 21: Regional policy and co-ordination of structural instruments *
Progress since the last Regular Report *
Overall assessment *
Conclusion *
```

Overall assessment \*

```
Chapter 22: Environment *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 23: Consumers and health protection *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 24: Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 25: Customs union *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 26: External relations *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 27: Common foreign and security policy *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 28: Financial control *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
                Chapter 29: Financial and budgetary provisions *
     Progress since the last Regular Report *
     Overall assessment *
     Conclusion *
     3.2. Translation of the acquis into the national languages *
     3.3. General evaluation *
     C. Conclusion *
     D. Accession Partnership and Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity: Global
     assessment *
     Political criteria *
     Economic criteria *
     Ability to assume the obligations of membership *
     Annexes *
                Human Rights Conventions ratified by the Candidate Countries,
                15 September 2002 *
                Statistical data *
Introduction
Preface
In Agenda 2000, the Commission said it would report regularly to the European Council on progress made by each of the candidate countries of Central and Eastern Europe with preparations for
membership, and that it would submit its first Report at the end of 1998.
```

"From the end of 1998, the Commission will make Regular Reports to the Council, together with any necessary recommendations for opening bilateral intergovernmental conferences, reviewing the progress of each Central and Eastern European applicant State towards accession in the light of the Copenhagen criteria, in particular the rate at which it is adopting the Union acquis [...] The

The Luxembourg European Council decided that:

Commission's reports will serve as the basis for taking, in the Council context, the cisions on the conduct of the accession negotiations or their extension to other applicants. In that context, the Commission will continue to follow the method adopted by Agenda 2000 in evaluating applicant States' ability to meet the economic criteria and fulfil the obligations deriving from accession."

On this basis, the Commission presented a first series of Regular Reports in October 1998, a second in October 1999, a third in November 2000, and a fourth in November 2001.

In its 2001 Enlargement Strategy Paper, which accompanied the 2001 Regular Reports, the Commission indicated that, given the pace of negotiations and the progress made so far, the Commission should be able to make recommendations on those candidate countries ready for accession on the basis of its 2002 Regular Reports. At its meeting in Seville in June 2002, the European Council concluded that "in order to enable the European Council to be held in the coming autumn to decide which will be the candidate countries with which negotiations can be concluded at the end of 2002, [...] the Commission will have to draft appropriate recommendations in the light of the Regular Reports." The Commission has prepared this fifth series of Regular Reports with a view to the Brussels European Council in autumn 2002.

. At its meeting in Seville in June 2002, the European Council concluded that "in order to enable the European Council to be held in the coming autumn to decide which wi

The structure followed for this Regular Report is largely the same as that used for the 2000 and 2001 Regular Reports. In line with previous Regular Reports, the present Report:

- · describes the relations between the Czech Republic and the Union, in particular in the framework of the Association Agreement;
- analyses the situation in respect of the political criteria set by the 1993 Copenhagen European Council (democracy, rule of law, human rights, protection of minorities);
- assesses the Czech Republic's situation and prospects in respect of the economic criteria defined by the Copenhagen European Council (a functioning market economy and the capacity to cope with competitive pressures and market forces within the Union);
- addresses the question of the Czech Republic's capacity to assume the obligations of membership, that is, the acquis as expressed in the Treaties, the secondary legislation, and the policies of the Union. In this part, special attention is paid to nuclear safety standards, which were emphasised by the Cologne and Helsinki European Councils. This part includes not only the alignment of legislation, but also the development of the judicial and administrative capacity necess implement and enforce the acquis. The European Council stressed the importance of this latter aspect at its meeting in Madrid in 1995 and on a number of subsequent occasions, most recently at Seville in June 2002. At Madrid, the European Council stressed that the candidate countries must adjust their administrative structures, so as to create the conditions for the harmonious integration of these States. The Seville European Council also stressed how important it was that candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementation and effective application of the acquis, and added that candidate countries must take all necessary measures to bring their administrative and judicial capacity up to the required level.

This Report takes into consideration progress since the 2001 Regular Report. It covers the period until 15 September 2002. In some particular cases, however, measures taken after that date are mentioned. It looks at whether planned reforms referred to in the 2001 Regular Report have been carried out, and examines new initiatives. In addition, this Report provides a global assessment of the overall situation for each of the aspects under consideration, setting out for each of them the main steps still to be taken by the Czech Republic in preparing for accession.

Furthermore, in view of the fact that the 2002 Regular Reports will provide the basis on which the Commission will formulate its recommendations as to which countries are ready to conclude negotiations, this Report includes an evaluation of The Czech Republic's track record since the 1997 Opinion. As regards the economic criteria, the report also provides a dynamic, forward-looking evaluation of the Czech Republic's economic performance.

For each of the negotiating chapters, this Report provides a summary evaluation of the extent to which commitments made in the negotiations have been implemented, as well as an overview of transitional arrangements that have been granted. The commitments made by each country reflect the result of the accession negotiations, and, in accordance with the principle of differentiation underlying the negotiation process, may differ between countries. Where negotiating countries have committed t hemselves to completing specific measures by the time of accession, the Commission assesses the relevant preparatory processes. For chapters on which the accession negotiations continue, and final commitments remain to be defined, an indicative assessment is given of the state of implementation of the commitments that have been made to date.

The Report contains a separate section examining the extent to which the Czech Republic has addressed the Accession Partnership priorities. This section also assesses the progress the Czech Republic has made in implementing the measures set out in the Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity that the Commission developed with each negotiating country in the spring of 2002.

As has been the case in previous Reports, "progress" has been measured on the basis of decisions actually taken, legislation actually adopted, international conventions actually ratified (with due attention being given to implementation), and measures actually implemented. As a matter of principle, legislation or measures which are in various stages of either preparation or Parliamentary approval have not been taken into account. This approach ensures equal treatment for all the candidate countries and permits an objective assessment of each country in terms of their concrete progress in preparing for accession.

The Report draws on numerous sources of information. The candidate countries have been invited to provide information on progress made in preparations for membership since the publication of the last Regular Report. The information each of the candidate countries has provided within the framework of the Association Agreement and the negotiations, the National Programmes for the Adoption of the Acquis where they are available, as well as the process of developing the Action P lans, and various peer reviews that have taken place to assess candidate countries' administrative capacity in a number of areas, have served as additional sources. Council deliberations and European Parliament reports and resolutions have been taken into account in the preparations. The Commission has also drawn on assessments made by various international organisations, and in particular the contributions of the Council of Europe, the OSCE and the international financial institutions, as well as those of non-governmental organisations.

Relations between the European Union and the Czech Republic

# Recent developments under the Europe Agreement including bilateral trade

The Czech Republic has continued to implement the Europe Agreement and contributed to the smooth functioning of the various joint institutions. The eighth Association Council meeting is scheduled for November 2002, and the eighth Association Committee meeting was held in April 2002. The sub-committees continue to function as a forum for technical discussions, and five of the eight met during the first half of 2002. The Joint Parliamentary Committee compris ing representatives of the Czech and European Parliaments met in December 2001 and in April 2002. A Joint Consultative Committee with the Committee of the Regions was set up in 2001 and met in January 2002. Its aim is to assist Czech regions and towns in preparing for enlargement. The first steps towards establishing a work programme for the Committee were taken. A Joint Consultative Committee with the Economic and Social Committee was set up in June 2002.

Trade between the EC and the Czech Republic has continued to increase. In 2001 EC exports to the Czech Republic amounted to € 27.3 billion (61.8% of total Czech imports) and EC imports from the Czech Republic amounted to € 25 billion (68.9% of Czech exports). The main categories of Community exports to the Czech Republic in 2001 were machinery and electrical goods, transport equipment and base metals. The main Czech exports to the Community were machinery and electrical goor transport equipment, base metals and textiles.

Under the agreement resulting from the first round of trade negotiations in the agriculture sector (adopted on an autonomous basis pending the conclusion of an Additional Protocol to the Europe Agreement), approximately 96% of EC agricultural imports from the Czech Republic and 75% of EC agricultural exports to the Czech Republic are duty-free or benefit from preferential rates (average trade figures 1998-2000).

Negotiations on a further round of liberalisation, covering more sensitive sectors, began at the end of 2001 and were concluded in June 2002. The resulting agreement, scheduled to take effect in January 2003, enhances the existing agricultural trade preferences between the parties and promotes the full and partial lifting of import duties either within tariff quotas or for unlimited quantities in sectors such as cereals, dairy products, beef and sheep meat. This further agreement also includes a commitment by the parties to remove export refunds for certain sectors.

In March 1996 the Council mandated the Commission to open negotiations on the reciprocal recognition, protection and control of wine names and spirits designations, including trade arrangements, with the Czech Republic. The negotiations resumed in January 2001, after an interruption in 1997 due to legal obstacles on the Czech side, and are still underway.

Negotiations are also ongoing in the field of processed agricultural products.

Procedures are underway for implementation of the protocol agreed with the Czech Republic on liberalisation of trade in fish and fisheries products.

The Government respected its commitment in January 2002 to withdraw the Decree adopted in November 1999, which had increased customs duties on imports of road tractors for semi-trailers originating in EC countries. As of January 2002, the Czech Republic removed the last import duties on industrial products originating in the EC.

The Protocol to the Europe Agreement on European Conformity Assessment (PECA) which has been in force since July 2001 has been functioning as envisaged in facilitating trade by extending recognition in the area of conformity assessment and the acceptance of industrial figures.

The Czech Republic decided to unilaterally introduce a temporary suspension of 12 tariff lines in the civil aircraft sector as of January 2001. Despite objections raised by the EU, this measure has been maintained in 2002.

One new anti-dumping investigations is underway, on imports of welded tubes and pipes (iron and non-alloy steel); provisional measures were imposed in March 2002. Definitive anti-dumping duties on imports of tube and pipe fittings (iron and steel) were imposed in August 2002. In June 2002, the Czech Republic made a request for the prolongation of the period during which public aid may be granted for restructuring purposes to the steel sector under Protocol 2 of the Europe Agreement.

In March 2002, in response to protectionist measures taken by the US, which greatly restricted access to their market and created the risk of considerable trade diversion, the EU initiated provisional safeguard measures, with erga omnes effect, on imports of certain steel products. The measures were partly confirmed in September 2002.

## Accession Partnership

A revised Accession Partnership was adopted in January 2002. Its implementation is reviewed in Part D of this Report.

## Action Plan for reinforcing administrative and judicial capacity

As announced in the Commission's 2001 Enlargement Strategy, in spring 2002 the Commission and the Czech Republic jointly developed an Action Plan to strengthen the Czech Republic's administrative and judicial capacity, on which a common understanding was reached in April. The revised Accession Partnership adopted in January has served as the point of departure for this exercise.

The purpose of this Action Plan is to identify jointly the next steps required for the Czech Republic to achieve an adequate level of administrative and judicial capacity by the time of accession, and ensure that all necessary measures in this regard are taken, providing the Czech Republic with targeted assistance in areas that are essential for the functioning of an enlarged Union. As such, the Action Plan is a key tool for meeting the common objective of the EU and the Czech Republic, i.e. to ensure that the Czech Republic's preparations for accession take place as effectively as possible within the planned timeframe.

The implementation of the Action Plan is reviewed in Part D of this Report.

## National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis

No new up-date of the National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis was adopted this year. However, the Government of the Czech Republic adopted a resolution in April 2002 entitled "Summary of the Remaining Tasks of the Czech Republic for the Accession to the European Union". This was then updated in June. The summary sets out the legislative and administrative tasks remaining to be accomplished under the Copenhagen Criteria and the chapters of the acquis.

## Community assistance

Three **pre-accession instruments** have been financed by the European Community to assist the applicant countries of Central and Eastern Europe with their pre-accession preparations: the **Phare** programme; **SAPARD**, which provides aid for agricultural and rural development; and **ISPA**, which finances infrastructure projects in the fields of environment and transport. The support provided by these programmes is focused on the Accession Partnership priorities which are intended to help the candidate countries meet the criteria for membership.

For the years 2000-2002 total financial assistance to the Czech Republic amounts to around €79 million annually from Phare, €22 million from SAPARD, and between €55 and 80 million from ISPA.

The **Phare** programme has been providing support to the countries of Central and Eastern Europe since 1989, helping them through a period of fundamental economic and social transition and political change. Its current "pre-accession" focus was established in 1997, in response to the Luxembourg European Council's launching of the present enlargement process.

Phare provides the applicant countries of Central and Eastern Europe with support for institution building, investment to strengthen the regulatory infrastructure needed to ensure compliance with the acquis, and investment in economic and social cohesion. This support comprises co-financing for technical assistance, "twinning" and investment-support projects, to help these countries with their efforts to adopt the acquis and strengthen the institutions necessary for implementing and enforcing the acquis. Phare also helps the candidate countries develop the mechanisms and institutions that will be needed to implement Structural Funds after accession and is supported by a limited number of measures (investment and grant schemes) with a regional or thematic focus. In the context of the Action Plans for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity, particular emphasis is placed on the issue of institution building and associated investment intended to ensure compliance with the acquis. For 2002, the Commission has mobilised special financial assistance of up to €250 million to accompany negotiating countries' efforts, over and above the indicative annual allocations for each of the Phare countries, bringing total Community assistance for strengthening the administrative and judicial capacity of the negotiating countries in 2002 to around €1 billion.

The Phare programme allocated commitments of  $\epsilon$ 664.5 million to the Czech Republic during the 1992-2000 period and  $\epsilon$ 86.6 million in 2001. The **2002 Phare Programme** for the Czech Republic consists of an allocation of  $\epsilon$ 60 million for the National Programme, complemented by  $\epsilon$ 24.8 million under the Phare 2002 supplementary institution building facility. The 2002 Phare programme focuses on the following priorities:

- Strengthening civil society (€3 million).
- Ensuring the capacity to apply internal market rules and regulations, in particular in areas such as financial markets, economic competition and customs administration (€18.3 million).
- Ensuring implementation of the acquis in the agriculture sector, including improving veterinary controls and diagnostic methods in the phyto-sanitary sector (£12.4 million).
- Strengthening the environmental sector, with particular emphasis on air and water pollution (€7.4 million).
- Addressing important issues in the area of justice and home affairs, such as border protection, the Schengen Action Plan and Information System and the upgrading of the probation and mediation services (€18.7 million).
- Applying EU directives in the railway sector (€0.7 million).
- Ensuring that the Czech Republic complies with the acquis in the area of employment and social affairs, including the establishment of a modern public health information system, participation in the EQUAL Initiative and social security (€7.4 million).
- Strengthening the administrative capacity to implement the acquis, including improving the management of human resource development and preparing self-government bodies (regions and municipalities) for the implementation of the acquis (€2.7 million).
- Improving economic and social cohesion, in particular by building up the implementation capacity of the designated managing authorities and other bodies responsible for the Structural Funds and the Cohesion Fund. (€6.3 million).

An additional €19 million was allocated to Cross-Border Cooperation (CBC) Programmes with Germany (€10 million), with Poland (€5 million), and with Austria (€4 million).

In 2002, the Czech Republic has also participated in and benefited from Phare-funded multi-country and horizontal programmes, such as TAIEX the Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Facility, SIGMA and the nuclear safety programme.

Phare also co-finances the participation of the Czech Republic in various Community Programmes, namely Socrates, Leonardo, Youth for Europe, the Multi-annual Programme for Enterprises and Entrepreneurship, Culture 2000, Media Plus, IDA, E-content, Customs 2002 and the European Environment Agency (€7.9 million in 2002).

Overall, the impact of Phare has been positive. Effective transfer of know-how, equipment and financial resources has taken place in a number of important fields such as public administration reform, improving the business environment including for small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs), justice and home affairs, agriculture and the environment.

For example, in the Czech Republic, Phare has played a particularly important role in:

- Developing civil society and integrating the Roma community: a total of over €4.5 million has been granted, for 128 projects, including 51 benefiting the Roma community.
- Supporting the reform of the judicial system and of public administration: advice and equipment are being provided for the establishment of a central training academy for judges and advice is being provided on how to implement the new Civil Service Act.
- Improving the business environment, with a project aiming to streamline commercial and trade registers, improve legislation pertaining to bankruptcy and creditor protection, and speed up court proceedings.
- Helping to Make the internal market work, through support for a series of regulatory bodies, including the Energy Regulatory Authority, the Telecommunications Office and the Office for Personal Data Protection.

· Consolidating security, by providing advice and equipment for the fight against organised crime, the fight against drugs and preparations for the Schengen border regime.

The 2000 Phare Review confirmed the accession-driven approach and emphasised the importance of helping countries to prepare for the Structural Funds. The trends introduced in 1997 have continued, with an increased role for Commission Delegations, further streamlining of procedures and increasing emphasis on raising the verifiable and quantifiable impact of Phare projects on institution building, investment in compliance with the *acquis* and economic and social cohesion.

The Review also provided for the possibility of further decentralisation of Phare management, by waiving the requirement for ex ante approval by the Commission Delegations for tendering and contracting. For this to be possible, strict pre-conditions covering programme management, financial control and structures regarding public finance must be met. An extended decentralised implementation system (EDIS) should be put in place for each negotiating country, at the latest by the time of accession. High-Level Working Groups are being established for each country to oversee this process, along with other key procedural steps, in the run up to accession.

In the Czech Republic, the overall management of Phare has continued to improve. Project design is better, and procurement time has been reduced. As regards programming, monitoring and evaluation, the Centre for Foreign Assistance fulfils its co-ordinating role, though its capacity should be increased and it should endeavour to be more proactive. With regard to procurement and payments, the performance of the National Fund and all Phare implementing agencies has been satisfactory, though with some exceptions in the case of the Centre for Regional Development.

The Commission adopted the Czech SAPARD Programme on 26 October 2000. The indicative allocation for SAPARD in the Czech Republic for 2002 at 2002 prices is €23.1 million (allocation 2001:22.9 millions, at 2001 prices). The programme focuses on two major priorities: improvement of production and marketing structures in agriculture and food processing (62% of the EC funds) and sustainable development of rural areas (35% of EC funds), 3% being devoted to technical assistance vocational training.

The Multi-annual Financing Agreement (MAFA), which sets out the rules for implementing SAPARD, and the Annual Financing Agreement (AFA), which sets out the Community financial commitment to the Czech Republic for the year 2000 were signed on 5 February 2001. The AFA 2001 has been agreed and is in the final stages of the procedure for signature.

The following structures are responsible for the implementation of SAPARD in the Czech Republic: the National Fund, located within the Ministry of Finance, administers SAPARD funds under the responsibility of the National Authorising Officer (NAO) and is responsible for the national accreditation of the SAPARD Agency; the Managing Authority for SAPARD is a separate department within the structure of the SAPARD Agency. The Decision-Making Group will be part of the Managing Authority, and will be set up by the Ministry of Agriculture in agreement with the Ministry for Regional Development; the SAPARD Agency of the Czech Republic is responsible for the implementation of the measures as defined in the Programme. The SAPARD Agency has delegated some tasks – related to selection of projects – to the Ministry for Regional Development pursuant to a contract concluded between the SAPARD Agency (the Ministry of Agriculture) and the Ministry for Regional Development.

In April 2002, the Commission provisionally conferred management authority for SAPARD, on a fully decentralised basis, to the SAPARD Agency of the Czech Republic. This Commission decision includes approval of seven out of nine measures contained in the SAPARD Programme representing 97% of the amount available for the Czech Republic. Following this decision, the Commission made an initial payment on account to the National Fund.

A Monitoring Committee has been established by the Management Authority and has met three times.

The objectives of the ISPA programme were fixed by the strategy documents produced for the transport and environment sectors in 2000. For road transport, the emphasis is on eliminating major bottlenecks and environmental black-spots, by closing gaps in uncompleted expressways and motorways. In the rail sector, the main priority is to complete the modernisation and upgrading of the main international corridors, as identified in the TINA report (Transport Infrastructure Needs Assessm ent). Programming for 2002 aims to redress the balance between the transport and environment sectors in terms of annual commitments. An adequate pipeline of projects should be prepared, especially in the environment sector, so as to be ready to absorb the future allocation of ISPA and Cohesion Fund resources.

Three environmental projects were approved in 2001: drinking and waste water in North Bohemia with an ISPA contribution of  $\epsilon$ 12.9 million, waste water treatment in Jihlava ( $\epsilon$ 9.6 million) and upgrading the sewer system in Olomouc ( $\epsilon$ 10.1 million). Three transport projects were approved in 2001: technical assistance for transport project management ( $\epsilon$ 0.2 million) and, in the road sector, the Belotin By-pass ( $\epsilon$ 17.1 million), and the Dobra-Tosanovice-Zukov expressw P>

The commitment of ISPA funds for the Czech Republic amounted to €70 million for 2000 and €69.9 million for 2001, bringing the total to €136.9 million. The figure for 2001 represented 6% of the ISPA budget, which was below the mid-point of the Czech indicative allocation, owing to a lack of suitable environment projects presented for financing. The allocation for 2002 will be between €59.9 million and €87.1 million.

One of the main challenges facing the Czech Republic in 2002 is to achieve an orderly start to implementation of ISPA projects approved in 2000 and 2001. In 2001, implementation in the transport sector was limited to the preparation of tender files and publication of the 2000 projects. Since then, contracts have been signed or are ready to be awarded. At the end of 2001 the Commission approved a technical assistance package to prepare the Czech authorities for EDIS (extended decentralisat ion) for ISPA (with ISPA financing of €0.7 million).

## Twinning

One of the main challenges still facing the candidate countries is the need to strengthen their administrative and judicial capacity to implement and enforce the *acquis*. As of 1998, the European Commission began to mobilise significant human and financial resources to help them with this process, using the mechanism of twinning administrations and agencies. In 2001, the Commission strengthened this emphasis on institution building further, th rough the launch of the Action Plans for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity.

The twinning process makes the vast body of Member States' expertise available to the candidate countries through the long-term secondment of civil servants and accompanying short-term expert missions and training.

A total of 503 twinning projects were funded by the Community between 1998 and 2001. Between 1998 and 2000, these projects primarily targeted the main priority sectors identified in the Accession Partnerships: agriculture, the environment, public finance, justice and home affairs and preparation for the management of Structural Funds. Since 2000, other important sectors of the acquis have also been addressed through twinning, such as social policy, the fight against drugs, transport, and telecommunications regulation. Twinning now covers all sectors pursuant to the acquis.

Thanks to the strong support of the EU Member States, 103 twinning partnerships were funded by Phare 1998, involving all the candidate countries and almost all the Member States. These first-generation projects have already come to an end. Under Phare 1999, a further 123 projects are currently being implemented and the programming exercise for Phare 2000 included a further 146 twinning projects. The 2001 programming exercise includes 131 twinning projects embracing all the Phare beneficiar ry countries, as well as Cyprus and Mala. Under the 2002 programming exercise, 119 twinning projects have already been planned and approved for implementation. A substantial number of additional twinning projects are planned, and these should be approved and implementation launched before the end of 2002. They include twinning projects identified in the Action Plans for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity in the negotiating countries. It is estimated that around 300 twinning projects are operational throughout the candidate countries at any one time. Furthermore, the candidate countries are being offered a further way of drawing on Member States' expertise through "Twinning light", a mechanism to address carefully-circumscribed projects of limited scope which emerge during the negotiation process as requiring adaptation.

For the Czech Republic a total of 61 twinning projects were funded by the Community between 1998 and 2001. In total [x] projects are now running, covering areas such as the legal business environment, pension reform, public procurement, preparing for the CAP/EAGGF, integrated pollution prevention and control (IPPC), corruption and economic crime, the Supreme Court, Supreme Audit Office, the Central State Administration, preparations for the Structural Funds, and financial control.

2002 also saw the start of "Twinning light" projects in the areas of combat of organised crime, environmental indicators and IPPC.

## Negotiations

Since the opening of accession negotiations, substantive discussions on the individual chapters of the acquis have started, and by June 2002, negotiations on all chapters (except Chapter 31 – Other) had been launched.

By the end of June 2002, the following 25 chapters had been provisionally closed: science and research, education and training, small and medium-sized enterprises, statistics, industrial policy, telecommunications, fisheries, consumer protection, free movement of goods, customs union, external relations, common foreign and security policy, EMU, free movement of services, company law, social policy and employment, environment, free movement of capital, culture and audio-visual policy, free movement of persons, financial control, taxation, energy, justice and home affairs, and regional policy.

# Criteria for membership

## Political criteria

# Introduction

The political criteria for accession to be met by the candidate countries, as laid down by the Copenhagen European Council in June 1993, stipulate that these countries must have achieved "stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities."

In its 1997 Opinion on the Czech Republic's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"The Czech Republic's political institutions function properly and in conditions of stability. They respect the limits on their competences and cooperate with each other. Legislative elections in 1992 and 1996 were free and fair. The opposition plays a normal part in the operation of the institutions. Efforts to improve the operation of the judiciary and to intensify the fight against corruption must be sustained.

There are no major problems over respect for fundamental rights. There are, however, some weaknesses in laws governing freedom of the press. Particular attention will need to be paid to the conditions governing any further extension of a law excluding from public service members of the former security service and active members of the Communist regime. There is a problem of discrimination affecting the Roma, notably through the operation of the citizenship law.

The Czech Republic presents the characteristics of a democracy, with stable institutions guaranteeing the rule of law, human rights, and respect for and protection of minorities."

In its 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that:

"In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic fulfilled the political criteria. Since that time, the country has made considerable progress in further consolidating and deepening the stability of its institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. Over the past year, further efforts have been made in this direction. The Czech Republic continues to fulfil the Copenhagen political criteria.

The government has also taken steps to improve the functioning of the central and regional administration. However, it is regrettable that the Czech Republic continues to lack a Civil Service Act for its public administration; this is essential for establishing independence, professionalism and stability.

The reform of the judiciary has gained significant momentum. Work in the area of civil law has made good progress whilst efforts continue on criminal law as well as the organisation of the courts and self-government of the judiciary. In particular, a radical reform of the Criminal Proceedings Code has been adopted which aims to increase the capacity to investigate effectively and bring cases efficiently to trial.

Some additional measures to fight against corruption and economic crime have been taken. Nonetheless, corruption and economic crime remain a serious cause for concern, as evidenced by a governmental report which calls on support from the political forces to address the issue.

The Czech Republic has consolidated its internal institutional framework in the field of human rights. However, increased efforts are necessary to better fight the persistent trafficking of women and children.

Considerable efforts have been made by the Czech government as regards Roma and other minorities. However, further measures to combat widespread discrimination are needed, in line with the government policy for the Roma of June 2000. The central government should ensure that all levels of administration, including regional and local, fully abide by and implement the legislation in place as regards minority rights and that the financial resources necessary to do so are available.

Some progress has been made in addressing the Accession partnership priorities although continued efforts are necessary. The government has proposed a Civil Service Law to the Parliament but this has not been adopted and implementation of a comprehensive reform has thus not started. Continued and encouraging progress has been made on the reform of the judiciary. The majority of the tasks contained in the government's resolution of 1997 concerning the Roma have been fulfilled and the nment has adopted a long-term policy towards the Roma. However, further efforts are needed to implement measures to fight discrimination."

The section below provides an assessment of developments in the Czech Republic, seen from the perspective of the Copenhagen political criteria, including the overall functioning of the country's executive and its judicial system. Such developments are in many ways closely linked to developments regarding the Czech Republic's ability to implement the *acquis*, in particular in the domain of justice and home affairs. Specific information on the development of the Czech Republ bility to implement the *acquis* in the field of justice and home affairs can be found in the relevant section (*Chapter 24 – Cooperation in the field of justice and home affairs*) of part *B.3.1*. of this Report.

## Recent developments

The minority Social Democrat government continued to function normally in both domestic and foreign affairs and to pursue its programme of economic and social reform. It completed its full term in office, which began in 1998 and was brought to a close by the parliamentary election of 14-15 June 2002.

The Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe (OSCE) monitored the elections, at the invitation of the Czech government, and found that the election process met all international standards. In particular, the Czech Statistical Office acted as a model of transparency by efficiently publishing the election results.

As no party won a simple majority of seats, the President invited the leader of the largest party, the Social Democrats (CSSD), to conduct talks with other parties with a view to forming a government. Subsequently, on 15 July the President appointed the new government composed of the CSSD and the Coalition parties. The CSSD has 11 ministers including the Prime Minister, the Christian Democrats (KDU-CSL), has 3 ministers including Foreign Minister, and the Freedom Union (US-DEU) has 3 mini sters. This new coalition government has a majority of 101 seats out of 200 in the House of Deputies.

There continues to be a basic consensus amongst political parties in favour of European Union membership. Prior to the elections the outgoing government continued to meet regularly the main opposition parties to review progress on EU accession. The new government has confirmed accession to the European Union as a top priority.

## Democracy and the rule of law

The Czech Republic has achieved stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy and the rule of law. This was the conclusion of the 1997 Opinion and the subsequent Regular Reports, and has been confirmed by developments over the past year. This section focuses on the most significant developments since the last Regular Report.

## The Parliament

The overall operation of the Parliament has remained smooth, including during the pre-electoral period. Since the 2001 Regular Report, there has been an acceleration in the legislative process as regards EU-related acts.

The procedures mentioned in the previous Regular Report which aim at streamlining cooperation between the Parliament and the Government on EU affairs remain in place. The Committee for European Integration of the Chamber of Deputies continues to hold discussions with ministers on legislative proposals prior to submission by the Government to the Parliament. As in previous years, the government avoided using the fast track procedure for the adoption of EU-related legislative proposals.

With a view to EU accession, new mechanisms for enhanced communication between the Government and the Parliament are being introduced, such as the one contained in the amendment to the Constitution which entered into effect in June 2002. It requires the Government to inform the Parliament on a regular basis – and in advance – of issues concerning the obligations stemming from the Czech Republic's membership of the EU.

A second amendment to the electoral law was passed in January 2002 following the abrogation by the Constitutional Court of a previous amendment which, the Court ruled, violated the constitutional guarantee of proportional representation. The new amendment sought to strike a compromise by reducing the majoritarian elements of the original proposal.

As regards non-legislative EU-related matters, both Houses selected, in good time, their representatives and alternates to the Convention on the future of Europe.

## The executive

Welcome progress has been achieved in the establishment of an independent, professional, stable and accountable public administration at central level. An important step forward was taken with the adoption of the Civil Service Act in May 2002 after difficult discussions and a close vote in Parliament. The Act creates a specific and comprehensive legal framework for the central public administration and reforms the existing arrangements in a number of key a reas.

Personnel policy is to be depoliticised by the creation of a General Directorate for the Civil Service which is to be responsible for the application of unified human resources management throughout the administration, in coordination with senior officials in the Ministries and other bodies.

The allocation of human resources throughout the administration is to be rationalised through a process of "systematisation" which aims to determine the number of civil servant posts and the funds earmarked for salaries in the Ministries and other bodies.

Professional standards are to be improved in a number of ways. There will be increased use of competitive exams for recruitment and filling of vacancies. Existing state employees will also be required, during a transition phase, to pass an exam in order to be appointed as civil servants under the Act. Also, there is provision for more systematic assessment of civil servants' performance as well as clearer criteria for promotion.

The Institute of State Administration is to coordinate and provide an upgraded system of training for new recruits and throughout the career of officials, as well as targeting specific subjects such as European Union Affairs and languages.

The system of remuneration is clarified and standardized. The remuneration system under the Civil Service Act is designed to overall improve the salaries of civil servants.

Thus the scope of the Act appears ambitious and comprehensive. Nonetheless, for the Act to have a significant impact it will need to be implemented in a constructive and cooperative spirit, on the basis of a wide political consensus.

The Commission has consistently stressed that a stable public administration based on a clear legal framework and characterised by professionalism and independence from undue influences is essential if the Czech Republic is to fully benefit from membership of the European Union. However, the transition period for full implementation of the Act extends to the end of 2006 and it may take a considerable amount of time before the benefits of the Act will start to be felt. Therefore, an accel eration of the timetable for implementation would be desirable.

The officials of regional and municipal authorities will be governed by the Act on Officials of the Territorial Self-Governing Units adopted in June. This Act also aims to set up a framework for professionalisation. The Act focuses on more transparent procedures and more stringent criteria for recruitment, strengthening continuous training of officials and increasing standards of service to the public. In compensation, some longer holidays and additional severance pay are provided for.

In 2002 the decentralisation process continued. In January 2002 the regions were granted a fixed portion of tax revenue thus increasing their own resources and getting more decision making autonomy. Furthermore, the limits on the capacity of the regions to run debts, introduced in November 2001, have been abolished. By mid 2002 a further raft of legislation was adopted concerning the transfer of competencies as well as property and staff from the District Offices, which a re due to be abolished as of January 2003, to the municipalities and regions. It has not been decided yet, which part of the resources of the regional budgets would be increased to accompany the transfer of the remaining competencies.

## The judicial system

Since the previous Regular Report the Czech Republic has made further progress with judicial reform, in particular as regards administrative law, the organisation and self-administration of the judiciary and the implementation of the new Code of Criminal Proceedings.

The judicial system is composed of four main tiers: 86 district courts, 8 regional courts, 2 high courts and the Supreme Court. In addition there is the Constitutional Court, which may be addressed directly by citizens in some cases of alleged violation of fundamental rights. Prior to the communist era, the court system was largely based on that of the Austro-Hungarian Empire. Since then, post-1989 basic codes have drawn upon prewar, communist and modern elements and thus require extensive revision.

Judges are nominated by the Ministry of Justice and appointed for life by the President of the Republic. Certain State prosecutors are subject to a security vetting procedure. The Ministry of Justice determines the number of judges and state prosecutors and their promotion, and administers the budgetary resources of the judiciary. Judges' salaries, which are relatively high, are set by Parliament. The Constitution enshrines the independence of judges, although the Minister of Justi responsible for appointing, transferring and terminating the appointment of the President and Vice-Presidents of courts.

Several developments can be noted over the reporting period. The important and much debated Act on Courts and Judges entered into force in April 2002. The Act introduced a first step towards self-government of the judiciary by the creation of Judicial Councils which have the status of consultative bodies at all court levels. It also seeks to promote greater professionalisation of the judiciary by establishing new procedures for the selection, training and evaluation of judges. However, me mbers of the judiciary and the Union of Judges criticised the Act as undermining the independence of judges and, for similar reasons, the President of the Republic referred it to the Constitutional Court.

In June the Constitutional Court subsequently struck down certain provisions of the Act, on the grounds that they did not respect the constitutional principle of division of legislative, executive and judicial powers or the principle of independence of the courts. These provisions concerned the system of "re-evaluation" of judges' competence during their career, the compulsory training of judges in the Judicial Academy and the performance of administrative responsibilities by the Presidents and Vice-Presidents of courts.

The ongoing constructive debate in the Czech Republic concerning the reform of the judicial system can be expected to continue.

The Act on Courts and Judges also creates a new Judicial Academy. This began operations in September 2002. The Academy is to provide life-long training for the judiciary. The Ministry of Justice has revised the curricula for training of judges and State prosecutors, covering all relevant areas including human rights as well as civil and criminal judicial cooperation. It is important that the appropriate representatives of the judiciary are involved in the functioning of the Judicia l Academy.

The Administrative Court Proceedings Code and the Act for Solving Some Questions of Jurisdiction were adopted in March 2002 and will enter into force on 1 January 2003. They introduce a new, modern system of administrative law which consists of Regional Courts, which will act as first instance courts for all administrative matters, and a Supreme Administrative Court, which will act as the second instance. This system was adopted following a Constitutional Court decision that the current a rrangements were unconstitutional. Furthermore, the Administrative Court Proceedings Code extends the possibility of free legal aid to administrative justice. These reforms should complement the adoption of the Civil Service Act (see previous section on the executive) in establishing a legal framework governing administrative actions.

The amendments to the Criminal Proceedings Code and to the Act on State Prosecutors (adopted in December 2001) began to be implemented in January 2002 and March 2002 respectively. Both amendments strengthened the powers of the State prosecutors, who are directly responsible for investigating all criminal offences, including economic crime, money laundering, organized crime, corruption and misuse of powers. The amendments to the Criminal Proceedings Code and the reform of the system of criminal prosecution have had a very beneficial effect on the efficiency of preparation and organisation of criminal trials and have reduced delays in the criminal trial system. Cases appear to be better prepared for trial, pre-trial proceedings are faster than before and the incidence of guilty pleas before trial has increased. The amended Criminal Proceedings Code also regulates the use of pre-trial detention (see below under Civil and political rights).

On the basis of the Act on Judicial Executors of 2001, 103 judicial executors' offices have been created and the Chamber of Judicial Executors has begun to operate. This is an important step forward which has improved the speed and efficiency of the enforcement of civil judgements.

Administrative support for judges has improved. For example, as of 1 January 2002, there were 621 higher court officials, compared to 591 noted in the previous report. Since the previous Regular Report, the number of judges and State prosecutors has increased. By 1 January 2002 the number of judges' posts had increased to 2 941 (in comparison with 2 893 in 2001); 2 669 judges were in active service (as of 1 April 2002) while 272 judicial vacancies remained. The total number of public prosecutors' posts had increased to 1 250 by 1 January 2002 (compared to 1 055 in 2001); 973 prosecutors were in active service (as of 1 April 2002) while 277 vacancies remained.

Good progress continues to be made in the re-codification of criminal and commercial law, with a view to its completion by January 2005.

Access to justice is reasonably well maintained save that, except in family cases, there is still no general provision in most first instance courts for emergency judges for urgent matters when the courts are closed. Legal aid is available in criminal and civil cases. However, less well informed members of the public may not be fully aware of their entitlement. The development of professional enforcement officers has improved the speed and efficiency of enforcement of judgements.

A key area for further improvement remains the reduction in length of court proceedings, which are a concern also for the Human Rights Commissioner. In particular, the amendments to the Civil Proceedings Code of 2001 have so far had little discernible effect except that injunctions can now be more speedily obtained. Otherwise, the civil litigation system does not yet appear to have become significantly speedier. Recent figures from the Ministry of Justice show that t he duration of criminal and civil proceedings increased in 2001 compared to 2000 and 1999.

Overall, the recent judicial reforms need to be further underpinned by additional human and material resources. The burden of routine administrative duties continues to slow down the justice system by deploying judges on routine administrative work when they could otherwise be deployed in judging cases. Therefore, increased efforts are needed to ensure adequate administrative support for judges and courts, notwithstanding some progress in the provision of information technology to the courts. District courts and some regional courts continue to lack sufficient financial support.

Judicial training is developing well but there is an urgent need for the further training of teaching staff in interactive methods, such as simulated hearings, and regarding the reform of the system of criminal prosecution. The setting up of the judicial academy is a positive step, although its success depends on how far judges can make use of it, since it is situated far from the judicial centres of Brno and Prague.

Furthermore, there is widespread dissatisfaction with, and allegations of corruption concerning the administration of the commercial business register which is operated by the judiciary. The register appears to be chronically understaffed. The 15-day deadline for handling requests for company registration, introduced by an amendment to the Civil Proceedings Code, has not so far had a significant impact.

Finally, the courts do not have sufficient judges trained in asylum law or available to hear the number of asylum cases likely to come to court in the near future. The capacity of these courts needs to be strengthened in order to cope with the introduction of the new appeals procedure.

## Anti-corruption measures

Surveys indicate that corruption and economic crime remain a serious cause for concern. During the reporting period, the Czech authorities undertook a number of administrative measures to strengthen the fight against these phenomena. In April 2002 the Government approved its own report on corruption which confirms that the situation is not improving. It noted that bribery in the public administration and fraud in the private sector continue to be signific ant problems. It highlights the fact that corruption continues to affect the proper functioning of the state administration,

the police (especially the aliens police and the traffic police), healthcare, banking, the judiciary and intelligence services and that it also influences the political sphere. Public opinion is increasingly concerned about corruption and economic crime.

Since the previous Regular Report, a number of steps have been taken to combat corruption.

As a consequence of amendments to the Criminal Proceedings Code, the Police Presidium has been undergoing an internal reorganisation since 1 January 2002. Two services have responsibilities in the field of the fight against corruption and economic crime: the Service for Criminal Police and Investigation and the Office for Financial Crime and State Protection. Their respective competencies still need to be more clearly defined and coordination with related agencies should continue t o be improved. Corruption within the police is directly investigated by specialised state prosecutors.

The new specialised police unit for witness protection, which was established following the entry into force of the Act on Witnesses, is fully operational. This unit provides protection measures for witnesses, particularly in cases concerning corruption, economic crime and organised crime.

The establishment of specialised units on corruption and economic crime at the Supreme Public Prosecutor's Office in Brno, with branches at the High Public Prosecutor's Offices in Prague, Ostrava and Olomouc, represent a major positive step. During 2001, there were a number of high-profile prosecutions and convictions for economic crimes. Between 5 October 2000 and the end of May 2002 the specialised offices at the Supreme State Prosecutor's Office noted the following s: 139 investigations were opened, of which 99 are still under investigation, while 40 investigations have been completed. Regarding corruption within the police force, the Government report notes that the traffic police and aliens police services remain particularly affected. The Act on the Status of Members of the Security Forces, which also included a code of ethics for police officers was rejected by Parliament in 2002 and will need to be resubmitted.

Each Ministry is required to draw up its own anti-corruption programme and appoint a co-ordinator responsible for its implementation. The Ministries of the Interior and of Finance have developed such programmes for police and customs officers. The Ministry of Finance is putting in place a regulatory framework which empowers specialised police services to obtain access to data concerning taxation, and is appointing officials from regional tax authorities to permanent joint teams. Several m inistries are developing public awareness campaigns and a telephone hotline and e-mail address have been established.

As regards public procurement, an amendment was adopted in May 2002 which strictly limits the use of emergency 'fast-track' procedures. This is welcome as it should significantly contribute to the transparency and predictability of future decisions in this field.

The adoption of the Civil Service Act (*see above on the executive*) should, as it is gradually implemented over a lengthy transition period, help increase transparency and standards in public administration. It should reinforce the requirements of the 2001 Code of Ethics on the basic obligations, rights and duties of civil servants. However, much will depend on the spirit in which the Act is implemented, including implementing regulations.

Figures made available by the Ministry of Justice indicate the following results for 2001: as regards corruption, there were 200 prosecutions (compared to 160 in 2000) and 117 convictions (also 117 in 2000). As regards "abuse of the position of public officials", there were 262 prosecutions (compared to 232 in 2000) and 99 convictions (100 in 2000). As regards "fraud", there were 9,486 prosecutions (9,445 in 2000) and 5,491 convictions (6,034 in 2 000); for "credit fraud" there were 1,592 prosecutions (619 in 2000) and 652 convictions (243 in 2000), for "legalisation of proceeds from crime" there were 40 prosecutions (15 in 2000) and 3 convictions (6 in 2000).

The government report of April 2002 on progress in implementing the National Programme for Combating Corruption concludes that one of the main reasons why anti-corruption policy is not successful is that the efforts of the public administration do not have sufficient political support, as there is not sufficient parliamentary consensus on a comprehensive anti-corruption programme.

The report also notes that present capacities to combat corruption are inadequate, although the merger of the police and investigators and the concomitant strengthening of the role of the public prosecutor represent a major achievement. At present, even though the number of convictions for corruption is increasing, it remains low in relation to the total number of crimes detected. The next step to be taken by the Czech authorities is to intensify training in order to strengthen and furthe r specialise the skills of the personnel working in these specialised departments. Additional human and technical resources also need to be made available.

The Czech Republic is a party to the Council of Europe Convention on Money Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime and to the Criminal Law Convention on Corruption, as well as to the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions. It has signed but not ratified the Council of Europe Civil Law Convention on Corruption. The Czech Republic continues to participate actively in the monitoring of anti-corru ption measures adopted by the OECD Working Group on bribery in international commercial transactions. In February 2002, the Czech Republic joined GRECO, the Council of Europe Group of States against Corruption. A GRECO evaluation mission to the Czech Republic is scheduled for October 2002.

## Human rights and the protection of minorities

The Czech Republic continues to respect human rights and freedoms. This was the conclusion of the 1997 Opinion and the subsequent Regular Reports, and has been confirmed over the past year. The following section focuses on the most significant developments since the last Regular Report.

The Czech Republic has acceded to the main international human rights conventions (see annex). The Additional Protocol to the European Social Charter, providing for a system of collective complaints, was signed on 26 February 2002. However, the revised European Social Charter, signed in November 2000, has not yet been ratified.

In May 2002, the Czech Republic signed Protocol No 13 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms on the abolition of the death penalty in all circumstances.

The Czech Republic has signed but not ratified Protocol No. 12 to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms prohibiting all forms of discrimination. The principle of non-discrimination is enshrined in the Czech Charter of Fundamental Rights and Freedoms. So far, however, comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation is lacking. The Government set a timetable for the transposition of the EC anti-discrimination acquis. On 20 February, the Government e ntrusted the Deputy Prime Minister with drafting the laws, regulations and administrative provisions necessary to comply with the acquis by the end of 2002. An inter-ministerial working group has been set up to assist in the drafting of anti-discrimination legislation and in the creation of a body for the promotion of equal treatment (see Chapter 13 - Social policy and employment).

The internal institutional framework in the field of human rights has been further consolidated with the appointment of one of the Deputy Prime Ministers as chair of the Council for Roma Affairs (formerly the Inter-Ministerial Roma Commission) and of the Council for National Minorities. The Government Commissioner for Human Rights continues to chair the Council for Human Rights. The role of these structures is discussed in more detail in the relevant sections below.

The Public Protector of Rights (Ombudsman) and his Office have continued to perform their tasks. The Ombudsman received a total of 5, 996 complaints in 2001. A total of 3, 139 (i.e. 52%) of these have been addressed. Most of the complaints concern restitution claims, disputes over real estate and complaints about social insurance, the police, the army and prison services. At 31 December 2001, the Office employed 86 people, including 54 dealing directly with complaints; its independent chapter in the 2002 State Budget amounts to CZK 80.8 million. The high number and great variety of complaints received by the Ombudsman's Office indicate that it is responding to a very real social need.

## Civil and political rights

Additional steps have been taken to further improve the protection of civil and political rights, although some issues remain a source of concern.

In order to reduce instances of degrading treatment by the police, training of the police is ongoing, including in the area of respect for human rights and communication with the public. Also, the State Prosecutors now are responsible for overseeing the investigation of police misconduct where this may constitute a criminal offence. However, efforts need to be continued to improve the system for redress against police misconduct, in particular through the adoption of a Code of Ethics.

Trafficking in human beings still remains a cause for concern but the Government has undertaken significant steps to combat it. The Czech Republic continues to be simultaneously a country of origin, destination and transit. The amendment to the Criminal Code, which entered into force in June 2002, extends the scope of the provisions to "trafficking in human beings" thus also covering children. Trafficking is also recognised as occurring out of the Czech Republic as well a s into the Czech Republic, and in response, the related sentences have been increased. The Council for Human Rights highlighted the need to improve the prosecution and punishment of the perpetrators of trafficking in human beings. To this end it proposed a set of measures that were adopted by the Government but still need to be implemented. In July 2002 the Government adopted a report on the implementation of the 2000 National Plan Combating Commercial Sexual Abuse of Children and updated the Plan. The report highlights that the level of awareness and communication of the responsible organisations has improved. The Plan aims, inter alia, to further strengthen the legal framework.

As regards police custody, persons in detention continue to be unable to notify a third party, other than legal representatives, of their situation.

The average length of pre-trial detention decreased to 171 days at end of March 2002 compared to 176 days at end of March 2001. The amended Criminal Proceedings Code, which entered into force on 1 January 2002, regulates recourse to pre-trial detention, and should further reduce the number of persons held in custody. As of end March 2002, pre-trial detainees made up 18% of the total prison population (compared to 27% in May 2001).

Prison conditions continue to meet minimum international standards but also to attract criticism. Since the previous Regular Report, the Ministry of Justice has sustained its efforts to further improve the situation. Statistics from the Prison Services indicate that, as of end May 2002, the total prison population had fallen to about 17 600 (compared to 22 000 in May 2001). The rare use of alternative punishments limits the scope for a further reduction of the prison population. There remain concerns about the absence of judicial review procedures for prison service decisions regarding prisoners, such as disciplinary punishments.

In 2001 the number of asylum seekers continued to increase and in fact a record high number of 18 096 people requested asylum in the Czech Republic, an increase of 106% on 2000. As of end July 2002, 5,209 people had requested asylum since the beginning of the year, suggesting a progressive decrease from the peaks reached in 2001. The Government continues to fund an integration programme. An amendment to the Asylum Law, which entered into force in February 2002, t ightened the conditions for granting asylum. It also established a second independent appeal instance for rejected asylum applications. The amendment also accelerates the processing of cases in which the reason for requesting asylum is not in line with the UN Convention relating to the Status of Refugees of 1951. The existing Aliens' Law has been criticised by the Council of Human Rights for not being anchored in a comprehensive migration policy.

The Ministry of the Interior's Report on Extremism noted that in 2001 the number of racially motivated crimes that were registered rose to 452 compared to 364 in 2000 and 316 in 1999. The Czech Penal Code specifically penalises a number of acts motivated by racism and intolerance, including incitement to hatred. However, the implementation of the relevant provisions remains reportedly unsatisfactory, and there are indications that law enforcement agencies have, in cert ses, failed to take appropriate action.

As regards freedom of expression, there has been little progress in tackling the lack of transparency and stability in the television sector. This is a cause for concern, given the important role of television in any modern democracy. There are now two disputes between foreign investors and their Czech partners, about the ownership of broadcasting licences and control of commercial television stations, which may have to be solved in international arbitration courts. The Council for Radio and Television Broadcasting should exercise its responsibilities more effectively and needs to maintain its political independence.

As regards the *freedom of religion*, a new law on the freedom of religion and on the status of churches and religious societies entered into force in January 2002. The law regulates the status and registration of churches and religious societies. It provides that 300 members are necessary for the registration of a church or religious society as a legal entity. Moreover, in order to conduct certain activities, such as religious teaching in school, the law requires the collection of 1 0,000 signatures. The law has been criticised as discriminating against minority religions. Also, the Czech Bishops' Conference stated that the law infringes on the right of churches and religious societies to manage their institutions, especially those committed to social and charitable work, by imposing new administrative measures and controls

The Government supported civil society through the publicly funded Foundation Investment Fund. In order to ensure that NGOs can become self-sufficient, the authorities have started to take steps to develop a legal and fiscal framework that is favourable to NGO development and promotes a responsible domestic donor culture. The amendment to the law on foundations and foundation funds, which regulates and standardises the regime of foundations and foundation funds, entered into force in July 2002.

As regards the restitution of property, in March 2002 the Government took further steps to transfer property to the Association of Jewish Communities in the Czech Republic, on the basis of the Act on the Alleviation of Some Property Injustices caused by the Holocaust. The Commission dealing with the reparation of property injustices caused by the Holocaust, which was set up in 1998, was wound up in March as it had fulfilled its mandate.

In 2002 there was considerable public discussion concerning the Czechoslovak Presidential Decrees of 1945 and ensuing post-war legislation relating to the Sudeten German population as well as restitution legislation and practice since the early 1990s. The then Prime Minister Milo{{X9A}} Zeman and Commissioner Günter Verheugen made a joint statement in April 2002 on these issues. On this occasion they agreed to carefully review all legal aspects, including existing jurisprudence, of t omplex matters. At the end of the reporting period this exercise was still ongoing. The Czech Parliament and the European Parliament also adopted resolutions on these subjects.

## Economic, social and cultural rights

Some significant steps have been taken to further improve respect for economic, social and cultural rights, although certain issues still need attention.

The Council for Equal Opportunities started its work on 1 January 2002. It is chaired by a Member of Parliament, and is composed of 23 members, including deputy ministers, representatives from NGOs, experts and the Government Commissioner for Human Rights. Its task is to advise the Government on equal opportunities legislation, set priorities in the realisation of equal opportunities projects and co-ordinate officials in line ministries in charge of equal opportunities. The major l egislative changes brought about by the amendment to the Labour Code, which entered into force in January 2001 – introducing the principle of equal treatment for all employees and strengthening the ban on any form of discrimination – have unfortunately so far gone largely unnoticed. More proactive enforcement and awareness campaigns are needed.

According to statistical office data, in 2000 the average gross income of women was 70.1% of that of men. This indicates a deterioration of 3.1% from 1999. However, on a positive note, the newly elected 200-member Chamber of Deputies includes 34 women (17%), a slight increase over the previous Chamber (16%). Moreover, the new Cabinet includes two women while the previous Cabinet had none.

The amendment to the Act on Social and Legal Protection of Children came into force in January 2002. The Report on Human Rights situation of the Government Commissioner for Human Rights notes that the implementation of this law should be improved to ensure that there is effective monitoring of the placing of children in institutional care. Alternative solutions, such as different types of family care, need to be fully considered.

There have been calls to improve mental health care and the rights of the *mentally disabled*. Whilst significant improvements have been achieved, further reform is called for to develop community-based support services and to improve the quality of care in mental health institutions.

As regards trade union rights, the Czech-Moravian Confederation of Trade Unions (CMKOS), the major umbrella trade union organisation, continued to denounce obstructions to the right to unionise, particularly in large-scale retail chains owned by foreign firmsl. The Report on Human Rights of the Government Commissioner for Human Rights noted two breaches of trade union rights in firms that are part of multinational corporations.

## Minority rights and the protection of minorities

Over the past few years, the Czech authorities have taken several crucial steps in this area. A legislative framework regulating the rights of national minorities entered into force in August 2001, and a government policy for Roma (the "Concept for Roma Integration") was adopted in June 2000. Since then, the policy, which is funded from the state budget, has been regularly updated. However, while the situation of non-Roma minorities in the Czech Republic (i.e. essentially Slovaks, Poles, Germans, Hungarians and Ukrainians) is largely satisfactory, Roma still suffer from widespread discrimination in education, employment and housing. There have been further cases of racially motivated violence against Roma.

The 2001 Regular Report noted that while the Government had made considerable efforts as regards Roma and other minorities, further governmental and non-governmental measures to combat widespread discrimination were still needed. Over the reference period, the Government has adopted some more measures in favour of the Roma minority.

The first Report on the situation of national minorities in 2001, submitted in line with the Law on the Rights of National Minorities and adopted by the government in June 2002, identified a number of persistent problems, mainly related to the use by members of minority groups of their mother tongue. The Council also administers grants from the state budget to minorities. In 2001 approximately CZK 30 million was allocated to supporting publications by and for minority groups, CZK 1 0 million for cultural activities and CZK 15 million for educational activities.

In November 2001 the Government adopted a set of measures to achieve a more vigorous implementation of the government policy for Roma of June 2000. Key measures include the extension of the "street workers" (social workers) scheme, the adoption of a primary school pilot project over the 2002-2003 school year and the extension of preparatory classes to prepare Roma children for mainstream primary schools and the presence of assistant teachers beyond primary school.

In January 2002, the Government updated its policy towards the Roma, first adopted in June 2000, by assessing the fulfilment of its tasks and setting out the main priorities for the future. These include the strengthening of the human rights institutional framework; anti-discrimination measures, in line with the *acquis*; affirmative action in education, employment, social and health care and housing; support for the development of Roma language and culture; changing social attitudes; ensuring the security of the Roma.

However, the budgetary framework for this policy is fragmented along ministerial lines so the necessary resources, for example for housing programmes, need to be made available in the state budget for 2003. Also, regional and local authorities, which are indispensable for the implementation of such a programme, are invited to participate but mechanisms for their coordination are lacking.

The Inter-Ministerial Roma Commission, now called the Council for Roma Affairs, has 14 Roma regional representatives and an equal number of officials from the ministries. As in 2001, the Council was allocated CZK 25 million to administer projects for the support of the Roma community, mainly comprising scholarships for Roma students and support for social workers. In February, the Government released a further CZK 9 million to complete the housing project "Co-Existence Village" in the city of Ostrava (northern Moravia), started in 1999, which addresses the needs of socially disadvantaged families, some of whom were affected by the floods of 1997.

Building on the experience of the anti-racism campaign "Tolerance Project", the Government approved in April a new campaign worth CZK 6 million, consisting mainly of an information and media campaign at regional and local level, a media presentation of the Roma social street workers project, as well as an education campaign at secondary schools.

The Government approved a set of measures dealing with the education of Roma children. The Government thus reacted to the final recommendations of the UN Human Rights Committee, which deplored the segregation of Roma children in special schools. The measures include the dissemination of information material, a voluntary full-time schooling pilot project in five primary schools, and the continuation of the preparatory classes scheme.

Following transfer of competence to the regions, the Regional Premiers (*hejtmans*) have decided to appoint Roma coordinators in only 7 out of 13 regions so far. Meanwhile the fate of the much appreciated Roma advisors seems uncertain, as their administrative basis, the District Offices, will be abolished by the end of 2002. This extensive network has proved useful, by providing local contact points with the Community and by bringing Roma interests to the greater attention of the pub lic administration. The appointment of Roma coordinators in the regions still lacking them and the preservation of the Roma advisors' network are important to maintain the momentum.

The National Action Plan on Employment for 2002 contains several measures aimed at improving the situation of the most disadvantaged groups on the labour market, in particular programmes aimed at boosting their qualifications and encouraging retraining. Also, the activities of the Committee for Long-term Unemployed aim to facilitate co-operation between all relevant actors at regional level in improving the situation of the most vulnerable groups on the labour market. In co-operation with Roma organisations, the Committee supports employment and creation of jobs for Roma population. Furthermore, the Committee supports development of specific educational and training programmes and seminars for disadvantaged groups.

In spite of these efforts, widespread discrimination continues to exist and the Government's efforts to date have not yet reached a threshold capable of bringing about structural change. More attention should be given to achieving results in this area and to measuring progress in achieving them.

Regrettably, the new School Act laying down, inter alia, a wider reform of the education system, notably phasing out the system of special schools, was again rejected by Parliament. Meanwhile, the steps taken thus far by the Ministry of Education appear ad hoc and low impact. Nevertheless, both preparatory classes and the promotion of Roma assistant teachers in the classroom have had encouraging results on a small scale.

Roma unemployment remains very high. Widespread discriminatory hiring practices are still being reported. The Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs has so far been unsuccessful in defining an incentive structure for the employment of Roma, as well as for positive actions, as called for by the government policy.

The government policy document recognises the gravity of the problem of the segregation of Roma into inferior categories of social housing (so-called "holohyty") and includes a survey of the situation. The absence of legislation against discrimination in the field of housing makes Roma families vulnerable to eviction, as local authorities have discretionary powers in the allocation of municipal housing.

An effective appeal system which may lead to appropriate compensation and sanctions, is required in order to deal with cases of discrimination. The Human Rights Commissioner has emphasised the need for comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation to be adopted and existing legislation to be applied more forcefully. For example, so far there has been no successful case concerning racial discrimination in the field of employment, despite the relatively strong legal framework which exists. Equally, the police and judiciary have a key role to play in ensuring impartiality in their dealings with the Roma community, as does the media in promoting tolerance of diversity. Decisive measures are needed to combat racially motivated violence, including where it would be committed by the police.

As reported in previous years, the Czech Republic is a party to the Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities. In February 2002, the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe concluded that the Czech Republic had made commendable efforts to support national minorities and their respective cultures. However, there was still scope for improvement, including by law-enforcement officials, especially as regards the Roma. Real problems remained as regards discriminati on against the Roma in various fields.

## General evaluation

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic fulfilled the political criteria. Since that time, the country has made considerable progress in further consolidating and deepening the stability of its institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. This has been confirmed over the past year. The Czech Republic continues to fulfill the Copenhagen political criteria.

The government has taken further steps to improve the functioning of the central administration. In particular, it has adopted a Civil Service Act which establishes a legal framework for the central public administration and reforms the existing arrangements in a number of key areas. The Act foresees a gradual implementation of its provisions during a transition period which may extend up to the end of 2006, in order to allow sufficient time for their careful preparation and thorough app lication. Nonetheless, it would be desirable for full implementation to be achieved as soon as possible so that the Czech public administration will be better equipped to deal with the extra demands created by accession to the European Union. The process of decentralization has continued, with the continued transfer of competencies to the regions and municipalities.

The reform of the judiciary has made further progress, in particular with the introduction of a new system of administrative law and the implementation of the streamlined Criminal Proceedings Code. However, further efforts are needed to reduce the length of court proceedings, particularly in civil cases. Overall, the recent reforms need to be underpinned by additional human and material resources as well as increased judicial training.

Some additional legal and organizational measures have been taken to fight against corruption and economic crime, which remain a cause for serious concern. Efforts need to be increased. In particular it is necessary to ensure that the relevant law enforcement institutions receive additional human and technical resources. A recent government report highlights the importance of ensuring full support from political forces in this field.

The Czech Republic continues to respect human rights and freedoms.

An amendment to the Asylum Law, which entered into force in February 2002, tightened the conditions for granting asylum. It also established a second independent appeal instance for rejected asylum applications. The Council for Equal Opportunities started its work in January 2002.

Some additional activities have been undertaken to improve the difficult situation facing the Roma community. However, more structural measures are needed in order to achieve significant results in remedying discrimination in access to education, housing and employment. The adoption of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation would be an important step forward in this regard.

## Economic criteria

# Introduction

In its 1997 Opinion on the Czech Republic's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"The Czech Republic can be regarded as a functioning market economy; it should be able to cope with competitive pressure and market forces in the Union in the medium term provided that change at the enterprise level is accelerated."

In its 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that:

"The Czech Republic is a functioning market economy. Provided that it makes further progress towards medium-term fiscal consolidation and completes the implementation of structural reforms, it should be able to cope with the competitive pressure and market forces within the Union in the near term."

In examining the economic developments in the Czech Republic since the Opinion, the Commission's approach was guided by the June 1993 conclusions of the Copenhagen European Council, which stated that membership of the Union requires:

- the existence of a functioning market economy;
- the capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union.

In the analysis below, the Commission has followed the methodology applied in the Opinion and the previous Regular Reports. The analysis in this year's Regular Report takes stock of the developments since the Opinion was drafted.

# Economic developments

The Czech economy has returned to solid growth rates following a recession in 1997 and 1998. The currency crisis of 1997 revealed macroeconomic imbalances caused by a transition path that had not sufficiently underpinned macroeconomic reforms with microeconomic restructuring. As a result, the external balance became unsustainable and it was necessary to introduce an austerity package which led to output decline and rising unemployment. The economy regai ned growth in 1999 on the basis of increasing external demand. More recently, domestic demand has become the driving force of growth. However, the disastrous flooding, which hit the country in August 2002, might weigh on the short-term economic performance in the second half of the year. Accelerating growth of fixed investment, not least pushed by strong foreign direct investment (FDI), has upgraded the production capacities of the economy. This has resulted in productivity gains and an increasing competiti veness of Czech goods. The current account deficit has risen as economic activity has gained pace. However, the deficits have been fully

covered by the surpluses on the financial account. Wage increases broadly in line with productivity growth have allowed for a rise in private consumption in tandem with low inflation. Monetary policy has successfully pursued its disinflation path keeping the inflation rate on low single digit levels. The strong appreciation of the Czech crown against the euro since the end of 2001 led the government and the central bank to agree on a bundle of measures to contain further significant appreciation. Overall, the economic policy mix has improved since 1997. However, the fiscal stance of the government has loosened in recent years. In the absence of structural reforms on the expenditure side of public budgets, this could endanger the medium-term sustainability of public finances.

Main Economic Trends													
Czech Republic		1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	Average	2002 latest					
Real GDP growth rate	per cent	-0.8	-1.0	0.5	3.3	3.3	1.1	2.5 Q1					
Inflation rate - annual average	per cent	8.0	9.7	1.8	3.9	4.5	5.6	3.2 July <sup>b</sup>					
- December-on-December	per cent	9.4	5.8	2.5	4.0	3.9	5.1	0.2 July					
Unemployment rate - LFS definition	per cent	4.3.	5.9	8.5	8.8	8.0	7.1	7.7 Q1					
General government budget balance	per cent of GDP	-2.7	-4.5	-3.2	-3.3	-5.5	-3.8						
Current account balance	per cent of GDP	-6.1	-2.3	-2.8	-5.5	-4.7	-4.3						
	Million ECU/€	-2,835	-1,187	-1,470	-3,082	-2,945 °	-2,304	-504 JanMarch <sup>c</sup>					
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy  - debt export ratio	per cent of exports of goods and services	42.5	45.2	46.8	38.1	:	:						
	Million ECU/€	11,224	13,599°	14,563	14,792	:	:						
Foreign direct investment inflow - balance of payments data	per cent of GDP	2.5	6.6	11.6	9.8	8.7	7.8						
	Million ECU/€	1,148	3,303	5,932	5,405	5,489	4,255	725 JanMarch <sup>c</sup>					
Souries: Eurosiat. National souries. OECD external Debt Statistics													

series break as a result of some technical changes to the definition

## b Moving 12 months average rate of change

Source: Website of the National Bank

nathing privatisation was completed in 2001. This has speeded up the final restructuring of the sector and has improved the conditions for more business oriented financial services. This and an upgrade of regulation and supervision, which brought it closer to international standards, has put the stability of the financial service as a whole on a finner feeting. Restructuring and privatisation of state working in the corporate sector has progressed and has left over only some large-scale sensitive cases. The banking and corporate sector have I argely been freed of bad assets which are now concentrated in the portfolio of the Czech Consolidation Agency, the state's bull-out institution. Efforts to sell off the bad assets to private investors, which had stalled for some time, were recent seamed.

the Czech Republic has made no progress in terms of real Income commergence with the EU. In 2001 the swrages or regists amounted to 57% of the EU werage. As regards the income level, there is a marked difference between the capital and the rest of the country. Prague reside and 124% of the EU werage in 1999 but all the other regions remained we eleve 75% in 1999. The economic activity rate has been at relatively high levels of around 71-72%. Ho wever, over the same period, the employment rate fel significantly from 68.5% to 65% reflecting the rise in unemployment. The unemployment rate has been at relatively high levels of around 71-72%. Ho wever, over the same period, the employment rate for \$3\cdots in 1997. Prague is hardly affected by unemployment at 11 while regions undergoing industrial restructuring are burdened with persistently high unemployment.

Main Indicators of Economic Structure in 2001										
Population (average)	Thousand	10,224								
GDP per head <sup>a</sup>	PPS	13,300								
	per cent of EU average	57								
Share of agriculture <sup>b</sup> in: - gross value added - employment	per cent per cent	4.2 4.6								
Gross fixed capital formation/GDP	per cent	28.3								
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy/GDP c	per cent	26.5								
Exports of goods & services/GDP	per cent	71.3								
Stock of foreign direct investment	Million € € per head <sup>a</sup>	23,352 ° 2,284								
Long term unemployment rate	per cent of labour force	4.2								

a Figures have been calculated using the population figures from National Accounts, which may differ from those used in demographic statistics

<sup>b</sup> Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing.

Data refer to 2000.

Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria

Assessment in terms of the Copennagen criteria

# The existence of a functioning market economy

ье ссихоту.

Arrang great of 1.1% over the ground has been composed by the years of quantitation in 1977 and 1978 and a subsquared renormy. Manassomali, stability has been greatering peaks of the post-transition critics which was provided by puracreconomic includances coupled with substantial shortcomings on the microconomic for peaks and peaks of the post-transition critics which was provided by puracreconomic includances coupled with substantial shortcomings of the peaks of the p

In August 2002, the Cycle Regulation as arisingly his by drantating floods. Peliminanily, the damage has been estimated to amount up to CZK 100 billion (6.3.3 billion). While most of the damage has to be covered by private households and insurance companies, public finances will also be affected by necessary contributions to flood relief. The overall economic impact of the flood carnot yet be assessed but it is like

to slow down economic growth in 2002.

The arrest annust deficit surgued 4.1% of GDP bases 1997 and 2001. Since 1998, the deficit have been favoured by logic influence of imports. With the economy we confronted with unsustainable current account deficits due to souring deficits in foreign trade. The implementation of the austerity measures in 1997 led to a temporary sharp deceleration of imports. With the economy recovering on a foreign trade. The implementation of the austerity measures in 1997 led to a temporary sharp deceleration of imports. With the economy recovering on a foreign trade. The implementation of the austerity measures in 1997 led to a temporary sharp deceleration of imports. With the economy recovering on the foreign are second deficits have been december of the foreign are second deficit to the substance provided a deficit of \$% of GDP and the current account deficit ended on at \$2% of GDP. The deficit was evold financed by a financial account of the foreign are second as deficit of \$% of GDP and the current account deficit ended on at \$2% of GDP. The deficit was evold financed by a financial account of the fi

suplas. In the lists quarter of 20%, the trade balance posted an estimated deleter of 40% of CDP and the current account deleter reached 42% of GDP.

Unaphypour many and a relative properties of the particular the result of an amendment to the Labour Code limiting overtime work. The unemployment rate reflects the impact of the 1997 crisis and subsequent economic restructuring which only started at a last stage in the transition process. Employment fell in each year between 1997 and 2000, anomaning to a continued to the composition of transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment restructual shortcoming in the labour materials. Workers in section of the district of 10% of 10% registered 10% and a last stage in the transition process. Employment restructual shortcoming in the labour materials and the scarcio of affordable hosing in more process regions. It is a final to more process regions. It is a support of 10% o

Inflation has maniford at relatively favor in 1998, the inflation rate edged up to 3.9% in the following year. However, since the beginning of the economic pick-up, as price derugalation measures have also been taken up again and pushed by the increase in international commodity prices, the inflation rate edged up to 3.9% in 2000 and 4.5% in 2001. Throughout the first half

many and the contract of the c

gentour and season and the agent of the agen

Goard generate deb has been moderate by this does not amplify refine the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government and the Nationa.

Property Fund. The government as a sumplest, princip secremonal propugation and proposed to the contract of the property fund. The property fund. The government and the Nationa.

Property Fund. The government as the sum of the government of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include only part of the debt of the transformation institutions and guarantees of the government debt do not fully reflect the actual picture of indebtedness as they include a picture of indebtedness as the picture of

## The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union

The will skilled labour force has been as used for adapting with consonic retardance and making the Copic annumy more competities. The high qualify of professional education and the short time required to obtain qualifications together with relatively low wage costs have been an advantage in competition for foreign investments. While the manjority of the labour force have completed secondary education (about 66%), the percentage of people with termany education has remained at a level of about 22%. Considerable the trend towards increasingly advanced production technologies, a more sophisticated services sector and deeper integration into the world economy, education must be able and willing to meet higher demands. The education system faces the challenge of expanding termary education and providing the world-force with texts to a ladjut on the treatment of the continuous of the challenge of expanding termary education and providing the world-force with texts to a ladjut on or force to activate the challenge of expanding termary education and providing the world-force with relatively labour market requirements.

Employment polity is found on fighting samployment and on fusining flooliship. Progress in this policy area has been rather limited, though there seems to be a policy consensus on the most pressing deficiencies on the labour market increasing regional disparities in une force mobility will remain limited as long as adequate housing c amout be provided due to the highly negulated rent market. Active employment policy measures need to be focused on target groups with a clear linkage to market requirements.

to fgrue fixed adjuid formation have dignificantly imposed the supply side of the womap. Over the last free years, fixed investment performance has believed to explace the old capital stock and has supgraded on capacities. As a result productively increases of about 3.2% on average over the last free years, fixed investment performance has helped to replace the old capital stock and has supgraded on capacities. As a result productively increases of about 3.2% on average over the last three years have pashed up output growth and improved competitiveness. Physical infrastructure as a perceptibility of the productive program Networks. Estings butteneeds have been targeted by investment programmess.

warks for foring intuitivest. From 1997 to 2001, inflows of foreign direct investment (FDI) reached an average of 7.8 % of GDP, peaking at 11.6 % in 1999 and then decreasing to 8.7 % in 2001. In the first quarter of 2002, PDI reached 3.1 billion. FDI inflows originated mainly from the EU and other OECD countries and were concentrated in the machinery and tes sector. Privatisation-relat has accounted for a large share of total FDI, but greenfield and brownfield investment has gained increasing importance. This development has been supported by offering attractive incentive packages to foreign investors. The Czech Investment Incentive Art provides a large number of investment incentives that can be combined. The investment praints with the acusis.

The national structure of the common, which is durasteried by a relatively large manufacturing seator, has altered with present construction produced 34% of gross value added and of employment, came to a halt in 1999, and it has been rising again since then. In 2001, inclustry (without construction) produced 34% of gross value added and of employment, came to a halt in 1999, and it has been rising again since then. In 2001, inclustry (without construction) produced 34% of gross value added in the same have as in 1997. The development of the ser verse section in terms of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in total employment. The arrival construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in total employment. The arrival construction of the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in total employment and the tourist sector posted gains. The gross value added of construction (all from 8% in 1997 to 7% in 2001 with a smaller drop in the share of total employment. The arrival construction of the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP shows just the reverse trend, though its share in the construction of GDP

The importance of small and multimo-sized anterprises (SMEs) has been graving, but it has not been passible to exploit the full potential of the SMEs sector is one of the economic gravith. In 2001, SMEs produced 42% of GDP and employed about 60% of the workforce. As regards external trade, the SME sector has constantly increased its share in total exports. Expansion of the SME sector is one of the economic potential of this sector. There has been a governing awareness that not only limited access to on tiske financing, and to business advice but also skills grays and start-ups could in itself significantly immove the situation, As rewards access to financing or desire these, could be to be sufficiently immove the situation, As rewards access to financing or desire these, could be to desire the following the continuous of the surface produces of a section of the surface produces of a section of a centural resolution of a centural res

The Copie assempt in my general training interface in the EU has maded high finish. While in 1977 experts and imports of goods and services amounted to 117% of GDP, this ratio row to more than 145% in 2001. Exports to the EU also absoved a clear upward remain, from roughly 67% or one capture, in 1977 to absort 07% in 2001. Exports from the EU as a precurage date with or developed mark et economies has internisted, but which expends a captured part and evidence with one charge and expends and expended mark et economies has internisted, but when expends and expends and expended market exposure to the wind which has a delectories with one produced in the contraction of a very high degree on technique gain expends and expended market expensions.

## Ability to assume the obligations of membership

# Introduction

In December 1995, the Madrid European Council remarked on the need to create the conditions for the gradual, harmonious integration of the candidate countries, particularly through the adjustment of their ac greater importance of implementing it properly in the field, via the appropriate administrative and judicial structures. This is an essential precondition for creating the mutual trust indispensable for future membersh

In its 1997 Opinion on the Czech Republic's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"If the Czech Republic continues its efforts on transposition of the acquis relating to the single market and intensifies work on be indispensable if the Czech republic is to have the structures to apply and enforce the acquis fully."

Algument on the single market is overall well advanced, although the remaining upps used to be filled. On free movement of goods, there has been progress, except for public procurement, and the bodies responsible for standards and certification continue to function well. As regards free series aspairs should be paramed. The aspairs of the Securities Commission has been reinforced although stronger regulatory powers would be witness to improve supervision of financial services. As regards free movement of capital, existing assurpment accounts remain to be abdieded. Concerning competition, legislation is now largely in line with the acquis, and the enforcement record in the unti-trust and state aid fields is reasonably good. In the lecapacity of the relevant authorities in the field of IPR, such as customs authorities, police, judiciary and trude impection should be further strengthened.

In the field of Justice and Home Affairs, progress has been made in particular aligning visa policy, migration policy and on strengthening the legal framework for pol-whilst checks have improved at official crossings, there are still significant difficulties in interapting illegal immigrants at the green borders with Shoukia in particular.

As indicated, the following review of the Czech Republic's ability to assume the obligations of membership has been structured in accordance with the list of 29 negotiating chapters. Accordichapters, covering all aspects of the aquit, including sectoral policies, economic and fiscal affairs, regional policy, environment, justice and home affairs, external policies, and financial questions.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

# Overall assessment

Horizontal legislation functions satisfactorily, central laws in this respect being the Amended Act on Technical Requirements for Products, the Act on Public Health Prote should be amended as appropriate. Almost all transposition of the New and Global Approach Directives has been concluded.

A number of institutions are responsible for implementation of horizontal and sector-specific legislation. Standardsation and the conformity assessment system are administered satisfactorily by the Czech Office for Standards, Metrology and Testing (COSMT) and the Czech Standard Institute ((SNI)). The COSMT also covers legislat notification about technical requirements. For the latter, new structures and procedures need to be established. The COSMT performs its duties independently of the MIT (to which it is formally subordinated) and co-operates with the Office for Public Information Systems. The competence of the staff and the level of equipment is good.

The Czech Republic now implements 99% of all harmonised European standards. The Czech Standards Institute (CSIS), is independent and a member of the European standardsiston Commistices (EN and CENGLEC and of the European Telecommunications Standards Institute (ETIS), is also a member of the International Organisation for Scormission (IEC). The Czech Accreditation Institute (CAI) is an independent company, although the Mini stry of Industry and Trade has a row in appointing board member. It ensures accreditation of bloosatories and certification bodies. The CAI is a full member of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international accreditation of Edication bodies certified to obligation of certification bodies certified to obligation of secretification of administration of certification bodies certified to obligation of certification of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international accreditation of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international accreditation of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international accreditation of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international accreditation of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international CEID, it is also a member of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international CEID, it is also a member of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international CEID, it is also a member of the European Co-operation for Accreditation (EA) and the international CEID, it is also a member of the European CEID, it is also a member of the European CEID, it is also a member of the European CEID, it is also a member of the European CEID, it is also a member of the European CEID

The Czech Trade Inspectorate (CTI) is the main supervisory body for the pramended legislation will require further increases in capacity and effectiveness.

orther progress is required in the area of public procurement. According to a Czech government report, since 1998 public tenders have been organised for only 1,483 orders out of 6,883. Furthermore, current Czech legislation respurators, legislative shortcomings remain, including the scope of the law, time! aimit, the public remedies system procurement under thresholds and the non-elimination of a national preference clause. A new, fully compromed. It is aimed a increasing transparency of public procurement. The registy in so the under the Registral Development Ministral increasing in respurency of public procurement. The registy in so the under the Registral Development Ministral Development Ministral.

## Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic had progressed very well in the taking on of the aquiv related to the free movement of goods. However, there needed to be certainty that products conforming to EC standards were allowed onto the Czech market. Developments concerning the safety of indus-implementing structures. Provided current efforts were main tained, free circulation of goods should be made possible in the medium term. Also, further work was needed to align with public procurement legislation. Furthermore the Czech Republic should make certain that any national measures were proportional and did not hinder trade

In order to complete preparations for membership the Czech Republic's efforts now need to focus on la

## Progress since the last Regular Report

Further progress has been made since the previous Regular Report although a number of legislative steps and elements of adminis

In the area of citizens' rights, the Act on Municipal Elections was adopted in December 2001, providing for EU citizens' right force on the date of accession.

## Overall assessment

Following legislative progress on residency rights and municipal elections, the Czech Republic is now largely aligned with the acquision citizens' rights. Preparation of legislation relating to elections to the European Parliament should continue

With a view to the future co-ordination of social security systems, further work to develop the ne on social security will facilitate the Czech republic's compliance EC regulations as of accession.

## Conclusion

Negotiations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. The Czech Republic has not requested any transitional arrangements and has agreed to a transitional arrangement respect of the free force for a maximum of seven years. The Czech Republic is meeting the majority of the commit iments it has made in the accession negotiations in this field. However, delays have occurred in curgonly addressed.

## Progress since the last Regular Report

Good legislative progress has been made in relation to the banking sector s

field of financial services, transposition of the harbitag water aquito has been largely completed. The 'harmonisation' amendment to the Act on Banks entered into force in May 2002, with some provisions applicable as of accession. The amendment to the Act on Banks addressed outstanding issues such as the reinforcement of consolidated basis grapervision, depot organism of licences issued in Member State ced international co-operation on banking supervision; in a number of these areas secondary legislation will also be necessary. The adoption of such measures continues – for instance the Czech National Bank's Decree on the Productual Reads of Parent Undertakings on a Consolidated Basis entered into force in August 2002.

# Overall assessment

The regulator, the Insurance and Pension Funds Supervision Office of the Ministry of Finance, has increas the Department into an independent supervisory body has not yet been finalised a nd should be addressed.

In the area of investment services and securities markets, amendments to the Acts on Securities, Bonds and the Stock Exchange marked significant progress and have been accompanied by a replace the present Act on Investment Companies and Investment Funds, which does not transpose all the relevant aspair. Progress should also be made on a number of implementing decrees.

The Office for Personal Data Protection (OPDP) is an independent supervivory authority responsible for this area; it performs the standard activation of an independent supervivor and is empowered to impose financial stanctions. The Office is operational and it has additional to be in the personal afficient in the Supervisor and is not personal or additional to be in the Foreign and supervisor in the Conference signatures.

The Czech Republic has made good legislative progress in the information society field. Laws on Technical Requirements, Public Information Systems and Electronic Sig conditions for electronic commerce in the Czech Republic. No concret e legislative steps have yet been taken to transpose the e-commerce aquit but preparations continue.

# Conclusion

ons on this chapter have been provisionally closed. The Czech Republic has not requested any transitional arrangements. The Czech Republic is generally meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiations in this field.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

Since the previous Regular Report, significant progress has been made regarding this chapte

## Overall assessment

In the field of capital movements, liberalisation in line with the acquis is almost completed. The main re Concerning payments systems, alignment with the acquis is almost complete. However, the remaining provisions on transactions by electronic payment instruments, as well as the provisions on securities settlement systems of the Settlem

The specialist institutions - the Financial Analytical Unit (FAU) and the SPOK, - are collaborating quite effectively. The FAU, created in 1996, currently has a staff of 28 and the SPOK has 212 policemen and 12 civil bodies and on rendering prosecution of complaints lodged by the FAU with the law en forcement bodies more effective. Compliance with the recommendations of the Financial Action Task Force should be ensured

# Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the degree of capital moven capital in the medium term, thus fully assuming the Community asquis in this area

Negotiations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. The Czech Republic ha meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiations in this domain.

Progress since the last Regular Report

In the area of accounting, an amendment to the Accountancy Act, which aims to align Czech as

In the field of industrial and intellectual property protection, the Czech Republic acceded to the European Pa Performance and Phonograms Treaty in October 2001.

Further progress has been made in the criminal enforcement of intellectual and industrial property rights (IPR) vapublic prosecutor and greatly reducing the possibility of appeal courts returning cases to lower courts. In September 2002 a significant amendment to the Act on Measures Concerning Import, Export and Re-Export of Goo offices to decide in unambiguous cases whether goods are to be released for free cir culation or confiscated and destroyed.

Overall assessment

With regard to intellectual pro-remain a matter of priority.

Conclusion

Progress since the last Regular Report

# Since the last Regular Report, the Czech Republic has made further progress in this are:

The Office for the Protection of Competitions, which is the national competition authority in the Czech Republic, has corappeals against competition office decisions and all were rejected.

An amendment to the Investment Incentives Act came into force in January 2002, which creates a direct comethodology and presentation of the European Commission's survey on state aid in the EU.

In 2001 the Office for the Protection of Competition, which is also the national state aid monitoring authority, is avoided by establishing a fully compatible investment scheme.

As regards anti-trust, the overall assessment is positive. Alignment of legislation is already well advanced. The enforcement record of the Office for the Protection of Comconcerning the most serious distortions of competition and imposing more deterrent sanctions.

Overall assessment

As regards state aid, the overall assessment is satisfactory despite remaining difficulties with regard to past enforcement in the banking sector for which there also remains a need for increased transparer maintained. In the steel industry, aid for restructuring can only be given if the national and individual restructuring programmes of the companies include necessary measures for reaching viability and n

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic had already made considerable progress in terms of approximation of legislation in the field of anti-trust, and that the enforcement efforts n

# In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts now need to focus on strengthening its enforce

Progress since the last Regular Report

Since last year's Regular Report, the Czech Republic has taken further steps as regards its agricultural policy, in particular as regards preparing the adi

Agriculture in the Czech Republic accounted for 4.2% of gross value added in 2001, compared to 4.3% in 2000. Employment in agriculture accounts for 4.6% of total employment.

In 2001, overall agricultural trust between the Carch Republic and the IC increased legsply, clearly due to the actually-non-agreement to Beach Republic series of agricultural products originating in the Carch Republic increased by 11% to 5.58 million. IIC exports to the Carch Republic for million company and any expensions of the run and respectations of print and respectations are respectations.

According to the Act on the State Budget for 2002, the state agricultural budget will amount to approximately & 0.42 billion, which million. Moreover, an amount of & 94.5 million has b ral Intervention Fund, 93% of this amount is aimed for market regulation.

With signal to preparations for the European Agricultural Guidance and Guantural train of EA/GG/3, a decision was taken in May 2002 to divised the responsibility for administration of the CAP between two paying agreeins, i.e. the State Agriculture Intervention Fund (SAIP) and the body currently performing the composition for extens instruction for production quotasts, and the collection of sugar, and the collection of sugar and the collec

The SAPARD Agency received the conferral of management of aid and started accepting projects from applicants on 15 April 2002. The SAIF staff has been increased by 20 persons. The Agency is based on a fully electronic platform

The SAIF has continued expanding its operations in the area of arable crops.

As regards greatified onto, steps have been taken to align Czech legislation with the acquir in the area of hops, through the pilot registration of hops' sales contracts. The Czech Republic has continued the har regard to quality control in this field. In the wine sector, a new Act on Viticulture and Wine Making entered into force in March 2002, aiming to align Czech legislation with the Community oenological practic

Rural development and forestry

## Veterinary and phytosanitary issues, including food safety

In general, little legislative progress has been noted in the veterinary field over the past year with regard to sommor measure, aintend veloper, notation you obtained disease and animal health and aintend wate treatment. However, further progress was made in establishing the system of animal identification, as secondary legislation relating to identification and registration of pigs, shee April 2002. The Czech authorities are participating in the computerised network linking veterinary authorities ANIMO on a voluntary basis as of July 2002 in order to prepare for full application by accession. As regards public health protation, some of the plants processing products of animal origin which did not meet Community requirements on public health were closed in 2001.

As regards administrative capacity in the phytosanitary field, the Czech Republic further prepared for incorplaying down inter alia rules for performing specialised testing.

Overall assessment

the veterinary field, an amended framework law remains to be adopted to ensure transposition of veterinary auguic, e.g. in the fields of animal arglan, rules outstain jumps from livid numeria, unimal identification and retarinary outstail. As regards veterinary control in the internal market, the system of financing of veterinary control as destination needs to be finited algued with the aquit. The feel level for veterinary border cheeks is community requirements but the overall system of financing of veterinary controls needs to be finited algued with the aquit. The identification and argustration of borne animals, obligatory since 2001, is progressing well and development of the system for tracing bovines is in progress. Border inspection and import cheeks need to be reinforced and algued with Community requirements.

cation of processing plants according to the level of compliance with Community rules has been earned out and modernisation plans have been established to reach Community requirements. It is important that the classification of its establishments is runt aquit have been closed. Serious efforts are needed to ensure that a legal basis is put in place for the implementation of the aquit on hygiene, so that the upgrading plans for establishments can be adequately assessed and can take full account of all

In the field of quality of seeds and propagating material, appropriate inspection and control structures are largely in place. A ne measures relating to registration of plant protection products, will be achieved by a new Act on Phytosanitary Care.

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that further alignment to the aquiv was still necessary, although significant progress had been made in adopting the measures mentioned in the Commission's White Paper. The Commission added that particular efforts were needed in relation to the implementation and enforcement of veterinary and phytosanitary requirements and upgrading of estatements. Further restructuring of the agrs-food sector was also needed to improve its competitive capacity. The Commission concluded that if such progress were accomplished, accession in the medium term should not be by significant problems in applying the common agracultural policy in an appropriate memora.

## Progress since the last Regular Report

ce the last Regular Report, no particular development has taken place as regards resource management, inspection and control.

## Overall assessment

Since the Czech Republic is a landlocked country, only parts of the acquis on fisheries are applicable for it.

## Conclusion

torily on administrative capacity. However, the Czech Republic fisheries policy is not yet fully aligned with the aspair in this area.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

ablic since the last Regular Report, in particular as concerns land transport.

Concerning Trans-European Transport Networks, life progress has been achieved in transport infrastructure connection, although work in a great part of the contractive for function of the contractive function of the

With regard to land transport, further legislative alignment can be noted. On neal transport, for the regislative alignment with the regard to EC rules or divining licenses and social legislation on driving times and rest periods in the road transport sector. An amendment to the Act on Roads enabling private int inserts for an aminimum of 30 years. A further amendment to the Act on Roads align Cache legislation with the appar on provision of safety advisors for the transport of changerous goods.

As regards nilloup transport, the Act on Czech Railways Restructuring was adopted in February 2002. According to the Act, the current rail operator, Czech Railways construction and maintenance of track. However, the actual management, construction and maintenance of track will be delegated back to Czech Railways.

s transport, no developments can be reported in this area

With regard to air transport, in June 2002 an amendment to the Act on Gvil Aviation was adopted providing, inter alia, for the establish Aviation Authority has further increased its staff since mid-2000 by 41 e mployees, 10 of whom were recruited in the last quarter of 2001.

## Overall assessment

As regards Trans-European Transport Networks, the State Fund for Transport Infrastructure is still understaffed in relation to the increased number of infrastructure projects for which it is responsible. The Fund should further increase staff levels according to the approved institutional plan, which provides for 43 employees.

As segarts road transport, the Cocket Republic is advanced in terms of legal alignment with the relevant aquage. Further efforts are still to be made to occased rules (checks on driving times and rest periods) in particular for domestic road transport operations. The consistency of the relevant aquage is consistent and the rest period in particular for domestic readors in one dotted transport operations. The road systephonic quadrinarisative equivale in road transport one period transport operations. The consistency design of the relevant operations are designed as a few periods as the periods of the rest report of the relevant operations of the relevant operations are designed as a few period of the relevant operations are designed as a few periods are designed as a few peri

As far as inland uniterway transport is concerned, the Inland Waterway Fund still needs to be set up and EC rules concerning safety advisors for the transport of dangerous goods still need to be transposed

As regards air transport, the overall level of transposition and implementation of EC rules in the field of civil aviation is good. Following the am co-ordinating committee composed of a representative of Czech Airlin es and of the Czech Aviation Authority. at to the Act on Civil Aviation, the independent air accidents in

ard to maritime transport, the Czech Republic is a member of the International Maritime Organization

Conclusion

In proper disposition of the Commission concluded that the Cook Republic deal made notable progress is a large and the Remarks and the Remarks

# Progress since last Regular Report

As regards administrative capacity, preparations have continued for the transfer of administration of excise duties to the customs authorities. An excise duty unit has been established at the General Directionate of Customs, the human resources exponsible for excise duty administration at local, regional and central level lawe been adocted, and various training initiatives are underway. However, the necessary control and control level lawe been adocted, and various training initiatives are underway. However, the necessary control and accurate legislative steps still remain to be taken. A new Code of Ethics for Tax Administration officials has been eveloped and incorporated into the Administration of excise duties to the Customs Administration an excise unit has been established within the General Department of Customs, which is responsible for the whole preparation of a distribute.

# Overall assessment

As regards direct taxation, the Czech Republic applied in the Czech Republic is ongoing.

As regards administrative capacity, the Coch Republish has strengthered and moderated its tax administration, both regarding VAT and direct tractions in progress according to pollum, both Cocch Republish by the Coch Republish is progressive as a sufficient progressing as a sufficient

# Conclusion

In its 1970 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the appul in respect of direct traation should present no significant difficulties and that as regards indirect traation, the Corch Republic should be able to comply with the appui on VAT and excise duries in the media participating in mathemal assistance as the standamination developed to expertise in this respect.

Negotiations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. The Czech Republic has been granted transitional periods as regards the continued application of the reduced VAT rate on the supply of construction work for residential housing (until 31 December 2007). The Czech Republic was also allowed to apply a VAT exemption and registration threshold of \$3.000 for small and mediam-iscuel enterprises. In the field of excise dates, the Czech Republic was granted a transitional period registration to reduce the property of the property of the property of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of first upint per year per housels that the quality does not exceed 50 lives of first upint per year per housels that the fundamental period registration of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of first upint per year per housels that the reduced excise rate is not less than 50% on the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of first upint per year per housels that the reduced excise rate is not less than 50% on the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed 50 lives of the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy does not exceed the suggestion and the standard mismoithy do

In order to be ready for membership, the Czech Republic should focus further efforts on completing transposition as a matter of uniquency—except for areas where transitional arrangements were agreed -in the areas of VAT and excise duties, including the contraction of the contrac

## Progress since the last Regular Report

A detailed assessment of the various aspects of the Czech Republic's economic policy has been given above, in the Chapter discussing the economic enteria (B-2). Therefore, the present section is limited to a discussion of those aspects of the Economic and Monetary Union Auptio – as defined by Title VIII of the EC Treaty and the other relevant texts – which candidate countries should implement before accession, i.e. the prohibition ector financing by the central bank, the prohibition of privileged access of the public sector to financial institutions, and the independence of the national central bank. As to the process of liberalisation of capital movements, upon the completion of which compliance with the EMU aupti is conditional, this aspect has been covered above, in the section on Chapter 4—Fire movement of cantal.

In March 2002, Parliament amended the Law on the Czech National Bank (CNB) with a view to aligning it fully with the asquir. The

# Overall assessment

ler article 122 of the EC Tr The developments since the last Regular Report have completed the process of legislative alignment with the EMU acquis.

with the status of a country with a derogat

As regards administrative capacity, the CNB functions effectively. The level of profes medium-term fiscal frameworks and statistics.

# Conclusion

n concluded that the Czech Republic's participation in the third stage of EMU as a non-par-

## Progress since the last Regular Report

overnment finance statistics, the methodology and the CzSO's co-operation with the Ministry of with other administrative sources. Thus, the quality of the register has improved considerable

al trade, work concentrated on the preparations of INTRASTAT, a system monitoring trade between Membe

# Overall assessment

Some further improvement of the statistical law, such as widening the scope of the re survey programme, the co-ordinating role of the CzS O needs further strengthening.

## Conclusion In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic should be able to comply with EC requir

# Progress since the last Regular Report

Overall assessment

Conclusion

As regards labour law, all the relevant acquis has been fully transposed except in the area of pr and to information and consultati on of workers.

Progress since the last Regular Report

With the beginning of the electricity market liberalisation, the Electricity scope and to prepare the ground for its potential future partial privatisa

et the Czech electricity industry was postponed by the Government in January 2002 after none ors and blocking minorities in the remaining three. In return, CEZ sold its m ajority in the ele-petition is conducting an analysis of this restructure.

In 2001 the State Office for Nuclear Safety carried out over 1250 inspections and 86 investigations of prepare reporting systems vis-à-vis the Euratom office to meet the Eurato m Safeguards requirements

ember 2001, the Heads of Go

Overall assessment

Czech legislation on nuclear energy and radiation pro from radiation originating from old hospital equipment.

The Czech Republic will need to ensure compl Scope Safeguards Agreement with the IAEA.

## Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion the Commission concluded that provided that efforts were maintained, the Creek Republic should be in a position to comply with most of the EC energy legislation over the next few years, adding that aspects such as the adjustment of monopolies, access to networks, energy pricing, energency preparedness (netwarding the building up of manufatory oil stocks), tate intervention fuses and urmanum sectors, and the development of energy efficiency needed to be closely followed: The Commission further pointed out that, although no major difficulties were foreseen for compliance with Euratom provisions, the nuclear safety standards should be tackled appropriately in order to bring all the nuclear plants to the safety level equired; and longer term solutions for waster defined.

In order to complete preparations for membership the Czech Republic's efforts. The Czech Republic needs to continue its progressive building up of tocks.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

In the area of industrial strategy, the Coch Republic has mainly focused on the implementation of the Sector Operational Programme Industry, which has been drawn up for the period 2001-2006. Projects in the framework of the SOP Industry focus mainly on supporting the complete formation of the Sector Operational Programme Industry, which has been drawn up for the period 2001-2006. Projects in the framework of the SOP Industry, an imagine receivate and finantiment generation and industrial services, SOP Industry, which has been drawn up for the period 2001-2006. Projects in the framework of the SOP Industry, a mainly to restrictore the period formation and industrial services, and in distantial services, and in distantial services, and in distantial services, and in distantial services, and in the services of the SOP Industry, and in the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and intermediate and in the services of the SOP Industry, and in the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and in the services of the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and in the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and in the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and in the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and the SOP Industry is countried being updated with a view to approximate generative and the services are supported to the services and the services area of the SOP Industry is countried to the SOP Industry is considered to the SOP Industry in the SOP Industry is considered to the SOP Industry is considered to the SOP Industry in the SOP Industry is considered to the SOP Industry in the SOP Industry is considered to the SOP Industry in the SOP Industry is cons

With regard to investment promotion, an amendment to the Act on Investment Incentives was adopted and entered into force in January 2002. It is designed to improve the existing system and establish more transparent conditions for granting incentives. The amendment aims attract a high level of FDI (6.55 bin or 8,7% of GDP in 2001 and 6.6 bin in the £2002, with high shares in the transport and communication sectors). The investment promotion agency Corchlarvest completed 25 projects in the first half of 2002, of which 15 in the automotive sectors.

As regards privatisation and restructuring, agreement was reached in June 2002 to sell Nova Hut, the largest state owned steel was a extension of the period during which state aid may be granted for restructuring of the steel sector under the Europe Agreement

The Czech Consolidation Agency, which manages state property, including restructuring of state-owned commercial enterprises and the management of claims, has been able to accelerate the disposal of its assets thanks to a government resolution of October 2001. The resolution established an implementin composed of representatives of ministries, trade unions, as well as the Consolidation Agenc and Agenc and a "Melance", a man and "Melance", a man an

Overall assessment

The Czech Republic is expected to speed up its restruct Chapter 16 — Small and medium-sixed enterprises).

Conclusion

In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech R and state aid acquis so as to create efficient competitive firms.

Progress since the last Regular Report

As regards SME policy, a new Act on support to SMEs was adopted in 2002 and will come into force in Jar

In April 2002, the Czech Republic endorsed the European Charter for Small Enterprises as the basis for its action to the European Charter in the Czech Republic started in May 2002.

The implementation of the 2001-2004 Long- and Medium-term Policy for SMEs has continued. It consists of 10 nation-wide and 7 regional p support to SMEs will amount to 639 million, with 83% spent for nation-wide programm 17% for regional programmes.

The National Discussion Group, appointed by the Minister of Industry and Trade and composed of representatives from the business sector and from the St

red enterprises, due to come into force in January 2003, also provides for compliance with the EC Reco

## Overall assessment

As regards administrative capacity, the central body responsible for the form responsibilities transferred from the Ministry of Regional Development.

With more than 10 different SME business organisations besides the Ecc Crafts of the Czech Republic is a positive development in this respect.

Conclusion

# Progress since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, further progress has been achieved. The main development in this field concerns the Act on State Sup and development, establishes an evaluation system, and lays down the tasks and obligations of the relevant Government bodies.

# Overall assessment

# Conclusion

In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts now ne Area, as well as to its successful association with the relevant Community programmes.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

During the reference period, the Czech Republic has continued to participate in the Comovisions concerning alignment with the asquisi on the education of children of migrant workers were adopted in May 2002. As of the date of accession, children of migrant workers who are EU nationals will have free access to pre-school and elementary

ion has progressed, with regional as

# Overall assessment

Conclusion

Since the 1997 Opinion, the Czech Republic has made steady progress over the years, in particular as reg ations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. The Czech Republic has not requested any tran

# Progress since the last Regular Report

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that no major problems were expected in the persp have positive effects and represented a good preparation for integration.

Concerning liberalisation of the telecommunications market, significant, although tardy, progress was made v provided only from January 2003. A general re-numbering plan was successful ly implemented in September 2002

In March 2002 the Czech Government adopted an Updated Action Plan of State Information Police

Overall assessment

Concerning liberalisation of the telecommunionetwork, but has been constrained by r egulat

## Conclusion

Since the Opinion considerable progres has been achieved. The Creek Republic's the communications policy developed strongly should be knownessamily for 18 months after market opening in Jaurus. 200 The similar one summer and deventification of the market. However, composition, altered the waste been a few to the similar one summer policy which progress has been achieved. The Creek Republic's the communications policy developed activated as greater and deventification of the market. However, the progress of the market. However, the progress of the market the market is the market is the market in the market in the market is the market in the market in the market is the market in the market in the market in the market is the market in th

## Progress since the last Regular Report

In the area of the audio-visual auguit, an amendment to the Act on Advertising Regulation in force since June 2002 further spec European and independent works. The period since the last Regular Re port has been characterised by a continued lack of transpar

um of Understanding, providing for the Czech Republic's participation in the Co

## Overall assessment

## Conclusion

## Progress since the last Regular Report

## Overall assessment

Increased efforts are needed to develop the appropriate channels of communication to enable local authorities, social and economic partners – including bodies functioning, it is expected that the partnership principle will be app veloping the forthcoming information and publicity strategies for the Operational Programm

# Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic still ne Community rules and channel funds from the EC str1 policies.

In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts should now focus on clearly defining the final

# Progress since the last Regular Report

# Overall assessment

A good system for inspection and enforcement has been established. The C value of fines continues to be too low to have a strong deterrent effect.

## Conclusion

## Progress since the last Regular Report

## Overall assessment

# Conclusion

# Progress since the last Regular Report

With regard to judicial co-operation in both civil and criminal matters, the Czeck Republic has almost finalised the legal approximation in which again. The amendments to the Criminal Code in the fields of Schenges judicial co-operation, the defination of with Germany on the European Convention on Mutual Assistance in Criminal Mutters and on European Convention entered units of the European Conventions the Czeck Republic in its co-operations with EURO/ISET.

## Overall assessment

# Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Con under control.

Progress since the last Regular Report

Concerning administrative and operational capacity, computerisation of the customs administration has continued, and work has progressed on interconnectivity with EC sy System (NCTS) were completed before the end of 2001. The system is now operating at four C zech Customs offices and Phase 3.1 was successfully introduced in August 2002.

With regard to ethics and anti-corruption measures, the Internal Inspection Department within the customs administration has taken measures over the past year to detect and pursue corruption amongst customs officials. It co-speciates closely with this nobel written and delectronic form. A new training programme is being implemented since Spectronic 2010, coverage the newly acquired powers of ecosisms officers, the annealed Customs at faint of the annealed Customs and the annealed Cust

gards customs co-operation, several developments can be reported. A tri-lateral co-operation agreement between customs laboratories was signed in January 2002 by Hungary and the Czech and Novak Republics. The Czech customs administration has also continued to reinforce as administration and Police have been set up, for the fight against illegal importation of commercial electronic devices and mineral oil products respectively. New Memorands of Understanding were signed in the past year with the Office of Nuclear Safety and a freight forward received for the contraction of the

## Overall assessment The Czech Republic has reached a very high level of legislative alignment with the acquis and already has experience of ap the context in which the provisions in area's such as non-preferential origin, inward and outward processing are applied.

## Conclusion

Progress since the last Regular Report

## Since the last Regular Report, the Czech Republic has co

ion (WTO) with the EU, in particular with regard to the Doha Develo

In the field of export credits, in November 2001 the Czech Republic became a Participant to the OECD Arrans

With signal to development policy, co-spection and assistance, the Casch Republic is an active member of the OEO2 and is adapting in development particles to the principles had down by the Development Assistance Committee. In jummy 2002 the Casch Republic is depended the Casch Republic is an active member of the OEO2 and is adapting in development principles had down by the Development Assistance Committee. In jummy 2002 the Casch Republic is developed the Casch Republic in a development in all and foresees; development and and foresees and the support of the Casch Republic is a development for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the Casch Republic is an active for a forest and the support of the forest and the support of the support of the forest and the support of the forest and the support of the support

Overall assessment

within the WTO framework, in particular also during the preparation for and the launching of the Doha Develope

ech Republic currently has free trade agreements in place with Croatia, Lithuania, Latvia, Estocia, Israel, Turkey and EFTA. The Czech Republic is also a member of CEFTA. The Czech Republic needs to ensure that the Union is kept fully informed both about existing trade agreements and about any negotiations aims chi Republic will need to renegotiate or renounce all international agreements to ordinade with third countries that are incompable with its future obligations as an EU Member State, including the Treaty of Friendship, Commerce and Navagation with Japan. Decisive steps are needed, as a matter of urgency, to bring bin and that content fevereen the bilateral international extrement retains and Treaty obligations with an effect to be resolved in the Accession Treaty.

In the area of dual-use goods progress has been made, however, the Czech Republic still needs to complete alignment with the auquis. Full alignment, in particular the general export auth

rial and at dep

The Czech Republic's alignment with and future participation in the common commercial policy is administered by the Ministry of Industry and Trade and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The adr

As regards bilineral agreements with third countries, the free trude agreement between the Crech Republic and Crossis has been provisionally applied since January 2002 pending in stiffication. Preparations have began for ensuring the termination of the Crech-Norde constrours of the properties of 1907, pending to the establishment of a joint commission on rate and encounter conserved recognition of 1907, the Crech Republic support does not present an extension on rate and encounter on a pending counter of position of present counter of a joint commission on rate and encounter counter counter counter of position of present counter of position of

ntal level. The Czech Republic has been supportive of EU policies and posi

Core co-ordination is needed and should continue, to ensure the smooth singment of the Carch Republic's CNT core monitorments and MFN exemptions, and steps have been defined to this extent. The Carch Republic's a signatory to the Information Technology Agreement and an observer to the WTO Destination and STATE of the CNT core an

Conclusion

# In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Czech Republic was well placed to be able to meet Community require

In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts now need to focus on finishing the process of legislative alignment, on taking decisive st products by December 2002 at the latest, as well as on ensuring that the administ trative capacity exists to fully implement and enforce the acquir in this field upon accession

## Progress since the last Regular Report Since the previous Regular Report, the Czech Republic has continued to position its foreign and security policy in line with that of the European Union.

The Czech Republic has shown a keen interest in continuing its active participation in political dialogue with the EU, including on FSDP developments. It has actively taken part in exchanges in this context with the EU, including (for ESDP) in EU+15 format (i.e. with non-EU European NATO members and candidates for accession to the EU) and in EU+6 format (i.e. non-EU European NATO).

During the reporting period, the Czech Republic played an active role in the Capabilities Improvement Conference in November 2001, designating 1 000 troops to take part in EU Rapid Intervention Force missions as of January 2003. The Czech Republic also offered 100 policement to participate in the EU police force. In May 2002, the Czech Republic gained full Armament Organisation (WEAO), thus taking a further step towards integration with the European Security and Defence Policy (ISDP).

Overall assessment

Political dialogue with the EU has remained overall constructive and consistent. The Czech Republic has su

strative set-up compatible with the CFSP structures of the EU. It was reorganised in spring 2000 and now includes the posts of Political Dir

Conclusion

In order to complete preparations for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts now need to focus on ensuring that its foreign policy orientation remains in line with the Union's de and practice conform to the EU {{PU2} s, should defend these positions in international fora and should ensure that all sanctions and restrictive measures can be duly implemented.

# Progress since the last Regular Report

As regards Public Internal Financial Control (PIFC), the new Act on Financial Control in Public Administration entered into force on 1 January 2002. The Decree implementing the Act under the authority of a Coordinating Unit in the Ministry of Finance. A series of training activities for PIFC has been launched in co-operation with the Czech Institute of Internal Auditors

As regards the control of structural action expenditure, the SAPARD Agency at the Ministry of Agriculture has its own internal audit units of the Ministry of Agriculture and the National Fund and Supreme Audit Office. A private company delegated by the Ministry of Figure and the Control System, in particular regarding the legal framework at implementation level and the development of working procedures, manuals and cheeklists. However, further steps need to be taken to meet the requirements for internal financial control and internal audit. The Czech Republic has already started the gards accounted a control system, in particular regarding the legal framework at implementation level and the development of working procedures, manuals and cheeklists. However, further steps need to be taken to meet the requirements for internal financial control and internal audit. The Czech Republic has already started the gards accounted a control system, in particular regarding the legal framework at implementation system. (Figure 2) and the control of system of the control of system private and the various and the control of system private and the various and the control of system private and the various and the control of system private and the various and the control of system private and the various and the control of system private and the various and various

Progress been achieved in the sex of protection of the Communities (fanacid interests, A co-operation arrangement between OLL at a gain of the Code's Supreme Delice was suped in October 2001 and entered into force on 1 January 2002. A technical nearner year, 2004 to set the important of this agreement. Relations, for the purpose of the protection of Communities (fundamental interests, between the Supreme Delice Devices on Oct Benjament Devices on Oct Benjament Devices Devices on Oct Benjament Devices Devices on Oct Benjament Devices Dev

# Overall assessment

Since the Opinion, significant steps forward have been taken, mainly over the past two years. The development of a comprehensive system of PIFC, compatible with the Communities' financial interests. Implementing structures have been es hed but further substantial efforts are required in order to render them fully operational.

As regards PIFC, further significant efforts are need to be put in place and further m onitored.

As regards the control of structural action decentralised basis, to the SAPARD Agency

Conclusion

In order to be ready for membership, the Czech Republic's efforts now need to focus on implementing sound financial control systems by strengthening the required institutional structures and ongoing activities, notably the strengthening of the internal audit units recising human resources and training, need to be vigorously pursued in order to attain full operational capacity by accession.

As regards application of the own resources system, administrative capacity continues to be strengthened. The Co-ordinating Unit establishe be responsible for the calculation, collection, payment and control of esources and reporting to the Commission once the Czech Republic is made to the control of the Commission once the Czech Republic is made to the Czech Repu

## Overall assessment

In terms of traditional own resources, the administrative infrastructure for the a B accounts and on reporting cases of fraud and irregularities to the Commission

## Conclusion

# Appearan costumes are requires to translatic the various legal tests constituting the agus into their national languages by the time of their accession. Pirmary and secondary legislation alone represents a considerable volume of tests, noughly estimated at 60 000-70 000 pages of the Official Journal. In the framewor translated as a prior ity (representing about 15 000 pages). To help the candidate countries in this process, arisistence is being provided under the Phrae programme. With the help of TAIEX, a dedicated database has been set up to act as a repository of all translated acts and as a tool through which candidate countries. Commission and the Council vet the submitted texts, they meet regularly and laise with representatives of the centralise of Iranslated acts of the central confidence of the central c

As regards company law, there is a high degree of alignment with the aujusi although as regards enforcement of intellectual property rights, further improvement is required, including well as state aids. The state aid enforcement and restructuring of the steel sector will need to be closely monitored. In the area of banking, increased transparency is needed.

As regards economic and fiscal matters, a high level of alignment has been reached on acoustine, but this needs to be completed in important areas of VAT and excise. Continued progress is necessary to develop in for the exchange of electronic data with the Community and its Member States. Organize elforts to strengthen administrative capacity in this area should be vigorously pursued. A high level of compatibility has been achieved with the acoustine aquain. It is necessary to finalise the work on computerisation and full interconnection of national systems with EC customs information technologies.

Sectoral palies have needed an overall good level of algorithms with the again and administrative expairly is generally satisfactory. As regards the gain and administrative expairly is generally satisfactory. As regards the end-use, Sufficient administrative expairly to enforce the acquis remains to be ensured. In the needy sector, there is a good level of algorithms are needed as regards the end-use, Sufficient administrative expairly to enforce the acquis remains to be ensured. In the context produced as regards the end-use, Sufficient administrative expairly may be a support of the context produced as regards the end-use, Sufficient administrative expairly to enforce the acquis remains to the formation of th

ing justic and home affairs, notable progress has been made in almost all areas and legislative alignment is almost complete. Continued efforts should be made to ensure further upgrading of border man

Conclusion

Some additional legal and or political forces in this field.

Regarding financial questions; in the field of financial amort/legalative alignment in completed but further substantial efforts are required or enum fair implementation of public internal financial control. Overall, the administrative capacity of the Corch Republic has been strengthered considerably. Efforts need to particular as regards agriculture, the end fairs as well as financial control. Special action and control special control special public internal financial control. Overall, the administrative capacity of the Corch Republic has been strengthered considerably. Efforts need to public internal financial control. Overall, the administrative capacity of the Corch Republic has been strengthered considerably. Efforts need to public and the control of the financial control. Special descriptions of the financial control special descriptions of the financial control special descriptions of the financial control special descriptions of the financial

# Accession Partnership and Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity: Global assessment

The Czech Republic's progress and overall state of preparation in respect of the Copenhagon enteria has been examined and conclusions drawn above. The present section assesses the extent to which the priorities of the Accession Partnership have been met and the measurer forescen under the Action Plan implemented according to schedule. It should be noted that both the Accession Partnership and the Action Plan have a time perspective of two years over 0(12 and 2003, providing for another 15 months for priorities to be met. Furthermore, much has already been achieved based on previous Accession Partnerships. The present one focuses on the respective of two years over 0(12 and 2003, providing for another 15 months for protines to be met. Furthermore, much has already been achieved based on previous Accession Partnerships. The present one focuses on the respective for the analysis below only focuses on these reposite futors and does not not give an overall prication of the state of preparation of the Caceth Republic are already been achieved based on previous Accession Partnerships. The present one focuses on the respective for the analysis below only focuses on these reposition for the accession partnerships. The present one focuses on the respective for the analysis below only focuses on these reposition for the accession partnerships. The present one focuses on the respective for the analysis below only focus on the respective for the analysis below only focus on the respective for the accession partnerships have been met and the measure forescent under the Action Plan in the Accession Partnerships have been met and the measure forescent under the Action Plan in the Accession Partnerships have been met and the measure forescent under the Action Plan in the Accession Partnerships have been met and the measure forescent under the Action Plan in the Accession Partnerships have been met and the measure forescent under the Action Plan in the Accession Partnerships have been met and the measure for the Accession Partne

# Political criteria

# Ability to assume the obligations of membership

and protocols

Protocol

## Annexes HULV LT SI TK Adherence to following conventions $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{G}$ CY $\mathbf{CZ}$ $\mathbf{E}\mathbf{E}$ MT | PL RO $\mathbf{S}\mathbf{K}$

## **ECHR** (European X X X X X X X X X X $\mathbf{X}$ X Convention on Human Rights)

X o

Protocol 1 (right of property)

movement et al.)

Protocol 6 (death penalty)

 $\mathbf{X}$ 

 $\mathbf{X}$  $\mathbf{X}$ 

 $\mathbf{x}$ 

X X

X  $\mathbf{X}$  X

X X  $\mathbf{X}$ X  $\mathbf{x}$ X X  $\mathbf{x}$ X o

 $\mathbf{X}$ X  $\mathbf{X}$  $\mathbf{X}$ X X X X X

 $\mathbf{X}$ 

X

 $\mathbf{X}$  $\mathbf{X}$  X

X  $\mathbf{X}$ 

Protocol 7 (ne bis in idem)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	0	0	X	X	X	0	Monetary aggregates			Mio ECU /eur	
European Convention for the Prevention of Torture	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	- M1 e) - M2 e)	11.0 31.0	11.5 35.3	12.4 37.0	14.2 40.3
European Social Charter	О	X	X	o	X	X	О	X	X	О	X	0	X	- M3 e) Total credit	29.8	30.5	28.6	30.6
Revised European Social	X	X	О	x	0	О	X	О	О	X	О	X	О	Average short-term interest rates - Day-to-day money rate	19.2	13.6	per annum 6.8	5.3
Charter														- Lending rate - Deposit rate	13.9 11.1	13.5 11.4	9.0 5.8	8.0 4.4
Framework Convention for National Minorities	X	X	X	X	X	0	X	X	X	X	X	X	О	ECU/EUR exchange rates - Average of period	35.93	(1ECU/eu	ro=Czech Ko 36.88	runa) 35.60
ICCPR (International	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	О	- End of period	38.03	35.19	36.10 1995=100	35.05
Covenant on Civil and Political Rights)														- Effective exchange rate index Reserve assets	99.2	102.0	106.9	108.7
Optional Protocol to the	X	x	X	x	X	x	X	X	X	x	x	х	О	-Reserve assets (including gold)	9,136	10,765	12,888	14,173
ICCPR (right of individual communication)														-Reserve assets (excluding gold)  External trade	6,002		o ECU/euro	14,043
Second Optional Protocol to ICCPR (death penalty)	X	X	О	О	X	О	X	X	О	X	X	X	О	Trade balance Exports	-4,187 19,740	-2,209 22,969	-1,746 24,638	-3,394 31,492
ICESCR (International	X	X	X	x	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	О	Imports (FOB)	23,927	25,178	26,384	34,886
Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural														Terms of trade	:	106.3	98.5	97.2
rights)														Exports with EU-15	59.8	64.0	69.2	68.6
CAT (Convention against Torture)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	Imports with EU-15	61.8	63.5	64.2	62.0
CERD (Convention on	x	x	X	x	X	x	x	x	x	x	X	X	0	Demography  Natural growth rate	-2.1	-1.8	-2.0	-1.8
the Elimination of All														Net migration rate (including corrections)	1.2		0.9 000 live-birth	
Forms of Racial Discrimination)														Infant mortality rate Life expectancy:	5.9	5.2	4.6 at birth	4.1
CEDAW (Convention on	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	Males: Females:	70.5 77.5	71.1 78.1	71.4 78.1	71.6 78.3
the Elimination of All Forms of														Labour market (Labour Force Survey)			of population	
Discrimination against Women)														Economic activity rate (15 - 64) Employment rate (15-64), total	71.7 68.6	71.7 67.5	71.8 65.6	71.2 64.9
Optional Protocol to the	О	X	X	О	X	О	О	О	О	О	X	0	О	Employment rate (15-64), male Employment rate (15-64), female	77.1 60.2	76.1 58.9	74.0 57.4	73.1 56.8
CEDAW	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	v	Average employment by NACE branches		ir	n % of total	
CRC (Convention on the Rights of the Child)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	- Agriculture and forestry - Industry (excluding construction)	5.8 32.0	5.6 31.5	5.3 31.1	5.2 31.0
Basic data				1997	19	98	1999 in 1000		2000	2001		<u> </u>	- Construction - Services	9.6 52.6	10.0 52.9	9.4 54.1	9.4 54.8	
Population (average) i)			$\uparrow$	10,30	4	10,295	10,2	283	10,273	10,2	24		Unemployment rate, total	4.3	% <b>o</b> 5.9	f labour force	8.8	
Total area				78,86	6 7	78,866	78,8	366	78,866	78,8	66		Unemployment rate, males Unemployment rate, females	3.6 5.1	4.6 7.5	7.2 10.1	7.3 10.5	
National accounts  Gross domestic product at current prices				1,68		1,839		h Korun	a 1,985	2,1	50		Unemployment rate of persons < 25 years	7.0		16.6 f all unemploy	17.0 /ed	
				46.			Mio EC		55.8		3.3		Long-term unemployment share	32.3	31.5	36.7	50.0	
Gross domestic product at current prices			Ť	4,50			ECU/eu		5,400		<b>-</b>	frastru	ture	in	km per 1000	km²		
Gross domestic product per capita a) at current prices					% ch	ange ov	er the p	revious	year		Ra	ailway ı	etwork 1	20 12	20 12 km	0 12	121	
Gross domestic product at constant prices (nat. currency)  Employment growth				-0. -0.	7	-1.0 -1.4	-	2.1	-0.7	C	/ <del>.</del> =	ength o	motorways 4	85 49	99 49	9 49	9 517	
Labour productivity growth			-0.	in P		ng Powe	r Standa			_ In		and agriculture production volume indices 10		evious year=	7	4 106.5		
Gross domestic product per capita a) at current prices			+	12,10		12,200	12,5		12,600	13,3	GI	ross ag	icultural production volume indices 9	.9 100	.7 100.	6 95.	102.5	
Structure of production - Agriculture				4.	4	4.6		4.2	4.3		1.2 Nu		of living f cars h) 32		r 1000 inhabit		344.7	
- Industry (excluding construction) - Construction			+	34. 8.	0	7.2		7.2	32.3 7.1		7.2 Mi		hone lines 31  f subscriptions to cellular mobile services 5	====	====			
- Services Structure of expenditure				1	53.		55.7		6.8	56.3	55	5.8 Nu	umber		i.5 7			
- Final consumption expenditure				73.	4	71.2	7	3.2	73.7	72	2.8		) Figures have been calculated using the population figures from No.	tional Account	ts, which may	differ from th	ose used in	
- household and NPISH - general government			1	53. 19.	8	52.5 18.6	1	9.6	54.1 19.6	19		Includi	emographic statistics. g FISIM.					
- Gross fixed capital formation - Stock variation c)					30. 2.	0	0.9		7.8	28.3	1	1.6	c) These figures include changes in inventories, acquisitions less di between the GDP and its expenditure components.			luables and t	he statistical	discrepancy
- Exports of goods and services - Imports of goods and services					56. 62.		58.8 60.0		0.6 1.9	69.8 73.2	71	1.1 e)	d) Series break after 1997. e) 2001 figures refer to November.					
Inflation rate									revious			g)		- change of methodogy - following 98 UN Recommendations  Website of the National Bank				
Consumer price index				+	8.	0	9.7		1.8	3.9		4.5 h)		r of cars: change of methodology  Population stocks for the year 2001 were changed in the light of profibition should will be available in 2002	eliminary resul	ts of the cens	us hold at 1 M	March 2001,
Balance of payments -Current account				#	-2,83		-1,187	-1,4	170	-3,082	-2,94	definitive results will be available in 2003.  Methodological Notes						
-Trade balance  Exports of goods					-4,00 20,10		-2,269 23,412	-1,7 24,6	785	-3,394 31,492	:	:						
Imports of goods -Net services					24,11 1,55		25,680 1,593	26,4 1,0	123	34,886 1,434	:	Inflation rate:  Use of the preparations for the common currency the EU Member States (MSs) have designed a new <i>consumer prior index</i> in order to comply with the obligations of the EU Treaty. The aim was to perform the preparation for the common currency of the EU Treaty. The aim was to perform the constant of the EU Treaty. The aim was to perform the constant of the EU Treaty.						aim was to produce
-Net income -Net current transfers					-69 31	===	-873 362	-1,1 4	198 179	-1,444 322	:	As part of the preparation for the common currency the EU Member States (186s) have designed a new manuar print index in order to comply with the obligation of the EU Transy. The aim was CPIs comparable between Member States. The main task was to harmonise methodologies and coverage. The result was the Harmonised Index of Consumer Proces (IHCP). A similar exerce stated with Candidate Countries (CC). In respect to relargement, it is equally important that their economic performance is assessed on the basis of comparable indexes. Some progress has made towards adapting the new rules. Sense, learning 1979 CCs report monthly to Eurostate so-called proxy IHCPs are based contained to PIs but adapted to the HICP coverage. They are compilars with the HICPs of the MSs. In the talke, the proxy IHCPs are back-calculated to 1979 (test from 1979).						ss has already been
-of which: government transfers - FDI (net) inflows					1,14	===	63 3,303		56	16 5,405	5,4	Finance						
Public finance									stic Prod		poaking, the general government defect / surplus refers to the national accounts concept of consolidated general government net borrowing 'not leading of ES-005. General government of borrowing 'not leading of ES-005. General government on the borrowing 'not leading of ES-005. General government of the borrowing 'not leading of ES-005. General government of the borrowing 'not leading of ES-005. General government of the borrowing 'not leading 'not leading of the Borrowing 'not leading 'not leading							
General government deficit/surplus General government debt				Ŧ	-2. 13.		-4.5 13.7		3.2 4.5	-3.3 17.0	-3.3   -5.5p   while the source of GDP is Eurostat. For the ratio of gross foreign debt to exports, the national accounts definition of exports of goods and services is used (source: Eurostat). The data f  17.0   23.7p   Monetary aggregates are end-year stock data, as reported to Eurostat. Generally, MI means notes and coin in circulation plus bank sight deposits. M2 means MI plus savines deposit						e data for 2000 are	
Financial indicators									stic Pro			shor	t-term cla ncial instit	ns on banks. M3 means M2 plus certain placements in a less liquid or longer-term form. Not all ions (MFIs) to non-MFI residents.	ountries produce an	M3 series. Total cr	edit means loans by	resident monetary
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy d)					24.		26.9		8.2	26.5	:	matu	urity of up	annual average rates based on monthly series reported to Eurostat. Lending rates refer to bank lending one year. Day-to-day money rates are overnight interbank rates.	to emerprises for 6ve	year. Deposit fat	co reser to pank dept	one with an agreed

change rates: ECU exchange rates are those that were officially notified until 1 January 1999, when the ECU was replaced by the euro. Eurorate Bank. The effective exchange rate index (nominal), as reported to Eurostat, is weighted by major trading partners. Gross foreign debt of the whole economy d) 42.5 46.8

## External trade

Imports and experts (summar print). The recording is based upon the special trade system, according to which, external trade turnover includes the market value of the country. Trade data excludes direct re-exports, trade in services and trade with customs free zones as well as licences, know-how and patents. Value of external trade turnover includes the market value of the good FOB means that all costs incurred in the course of transport up to the customs frontier are charged to the seller. The value of exports and imports are given in FOB.

Having consulted issue of external trade methodology with Eurostat, changes applying since the year 2000 brought the methodology for the statistics of external trade closer to the practices of EU and EFTA member countries. All the data for 1996 to 2001 are converted to comply with the methodology for 2000.

Terms of trade. The figures are calculated from the nominal exports and import prices on the base 2000=100 by deflating according to ten SITC groups with current weights of the quarter concerned. Corresponding period of preceding year=100.

Starting in 1996, the decisive criterion for inclusion in the export statistics is the release date of the goods into the exports regime. Imports are registered on the day when the goods are released into inland circulation. Value of the external trade is indicated in FOB/FOB prices.

Terms of trade. The figures are calculated from the base 1994 = 100 by deflating according to ten SITC groups with current weights of the quarter con

Imports and exports with EU-15. Data declared by the Czech republic

## Demography

# Not migration rate. Crude rate of net migration (recalculated by EUROSTAT) for year X, is; population (X+1) - population (X) - Deaths (X) + Births (X). This assumes that any change in population and deaths is attributable to migration. This indicator includes therefore also administrative corrections (and projection errors if the total population is based on estimates and the births and deaths on registers). Figures are in this c ase more consistent. Further, most of the difference between the Crude rate of net migration provided by country and the one calculated by Eurostat is caused by an under reporting or delay in reporting of migration.

## Labour force

The European Labour Force Survey is conducted in spring carch year in accordance with Council Regulation (EEC) No. 577/98 of 9 March 1998. A detailed description of the sampling methods, the adjustment procedures, the definitions and the common Community coding currently used in the labour Force survey is presented in the publications "Labour Force Survey — Methods and definitions, 1998" and "Labour Force Survey in central and east European definitions, 2000".

# All definitions apply to persons aged 15 years and over, living in private bouncholds. The concepts and definitions used in the survey follow the guidelines of the International Labour Organisation. Persons carrying out obligatory military service are not included.

Persons in complayment were those who during the reference week did any work for pay or profit for at least one hour, or were not working but had jobs from which they were temporarily absent. Family workers are included.

Unemployed were all persons aged 15+, who concurrently met all three conditions of the ILO definition

have no work,

are ready to take up a job within a fortnight

Duration of unemployment is defined as:

(a) the duration of search for a job, or

The active population is defined as the sum of persons in employment and unemployed person

Inactive persons are those who are not classified as persons in employment nor as unemployed persons

Employment rates represent employed persons aged 15-64 as a percentage of the same age population.

Unemployment rates represent unemployed persons as a percentage of the active population aged 15 years and more

(b) the length of the period since the last job was held (if this period is shorter than the duration of search for a job).

Railing nations. All railways in a given area. This does not include stretches of road or water even if rolling stock should be conveyed over such routes; e.g. by wagon-carrying trailers or ferries. Lines solely used for tou public traffic. The data considers the construction length of railways. Length of motorway: Road, specially designed and built for motor traffic, which does not serve properties bordering on it, and which:

(a) is provided, except at special points or temporarily, with separate carriageways for the two directions of traffic, separated from each other, either by a dividing strip not intended for traffic, or exceptionally by other means

(b) does not cross at level with any road, railway or tramway track, or footpath;

(c) is specially sign-posted as a motorway and is reserved for specific categories of road motor vehicles.

Entry and exit lanes of motorways are included irrespectively of the location of the signposts. Urban motorways are also included.

in rolume indices. Industrial production covers mining and quarrying, manufacturing and electricity, gas, steam and water supply (according to the NACE Rev. I Classification Sections C,D,E).

Industrial production index (IPI) is calculated by the method corresponding to the international standards based on the production statistics of selected products ("Series-witness"). It covers 88,6 % of industrial production in the Czech Republic

Published IPI for the Czech Republic are calculated in weights of 1995 and no adjustments were done as concerns seasonal influences and number of working days.

Total agricultural output volume indices. Indices based on evaluation of all individual products of gross agricultural production in constant prices of 1989.

Number of care. Passenger car: road motor vehicle, other than a motor cycle, intended for the carriage of passengers and designed to seat no more than nine persons (including the driver). The term "passenger car" therefore covers microcars (need no permit to be driven), taxis and hired passenger cars, provided that they have less than ten seats. This category may also include pick-ups.

Internet connections. The number of Internet clients include the number of users allowed to access Internet both via phone and data concentration and commutation device, leased circuit and local computer ne

The number of servers for access to the Internet network includes the number of computers connected to the network via permanent circuit or data network, which provide applications to Internet users.

Sources

National accounts, inflation rate, balance of payment, public finance, finance: Eurostat.